

Graduate Theses, Dissertations, and Problem Reports

2017

Retrospective Evaluation of Skeletal, Dentoalveolar, and Periodontal Changes of Microimplant Assisted Rapid Palatal Expansion (MARPE) In Skeletally Matured Patients

Uyen Kelly Nguyen

Follow this and additional works at: https://researchrepository.wvu.edu/etd

Recommended Citation

Nguyen, Uyen Kelly, "Retrospective Evaluation of Skeletal, Dentoalveolar, and Periodontal Changes of Microimplant Assisted Rapid Palatal Expansion (MARPE) In Skeletally Matured Patients" (2017). *Graduate Theses, Dissertations, and Problem Reports.* 6310. https://researchrepository.wvu.edu/etd/6310

This Thesis is protected by copyright and/or related rights. It has been brought to you by the The Research Repository @ WVU with permission from the rights-holder(s). You are free to use this Thesis in any way that is permitted by the copyright and related rights legislation that applies to your use. For other uses you must obtain permission from the rights-holder(s) directly, unless additional rights are indicated by a Creative Commons license in the record and/ or on the work itself. This Thesis has been accepted for inclusion in WVU Graduate Theses, Dissertations, and Problem Reports collection by an authorized administrator of The Research Repository @ WVU. For more information, please contact researchrepository@mail.wvu.edu.

Retrospective Evaluation of Skeletal, Dentoalveolar, and Periodontal Changes of Microimplant Assisted Rapid Palatal Expansion (MARPE) In Skeletally Matured Patients

Uyen Kelly Nguyen, D.M.D.

Thesis submitted to the School of Dentistry at West Virginia University

in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

Master of Science in Orthodontics

Peter Ngan, D.M.D., M.S., Chair Timothy Tremont, D.M.D., M.S. Chris Martin, D.D.S., M.S.

Department of Orthodontics

Morgantown, West Virginia 2017

Keywords: MARPE, micro-implant, rapid palatal expansion, CBCT, Cone Beam, Skeletally Matured, Nongrowing, Adult

Copyright 2017 Uyen Kelly Nguyen, D.M.D.

ABSTRACT

Retrospective Evaluation of Skeletal, Dentoalveolar, and Periodontal Changes of Microimplant Assisted Rapid Palatal Expansion (MARPE) In Skeletally Matured Patients

Uyen Kelly Nguyen, D.M.D

Introduction: Microimplant-assisted rapid palatal expansion (MARPE) has recently been offered to adult patients as a treatment option for correcting maxillary transverse deficiency. However, there is a lack of information in the literature on the effects of this newer expansion technique specifically related to skeletal maturity. The purpose of this study was to investigate the immediate skeletal, dentoalveolar, and periodontal response to MARPE in skeletally matured patients, as assessed by the cervical vertebral maturation (CVM) method, using cone-beam computed tomography.

Experimental Design and Methods: Eight patients (2 females, 6 males; mean age of 21.9 ± 1.5 years) treated with the maxillary skeletal expander (MSE), a particular type of MARPE appliance, were included in the study. Measurements before and after MARPE of midpalatal suture opening, upper facial bony expansion, aveolar bone bending, dental tipping, and buccal bone thickness were compared using one-way ANOVA or matched-pair t-test ($\alpha = 0.05$).

Results: Midpalatal suture separated in 100% of subjects with no dislodged microimplants. Contribution to total expansion include 41% skeletal, 12% alveolar bone bending, and 48% dental tipping. Pattern of midpalatal suture opening was parallel in both coronal and axial view. On average, absolute dental tipping ranged from 4.17° to 4.96° and buccal bone thickness reduced by 0.27 mm to 0.68 mm, which may be improved overtime with orthodontic uprighting.

Conclusion: MARPE can be a clinically acceptable, nonsurgical treatment option for correcting mild to moderate maxillary transverse discrepancies, less than 7 mm, in skeletally matured adult patients with a healthy periodontium.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS AND DEDICATIONS

"The best kind of people are the ones that come into your life, and make you see the sun where you once saw clouds. The people that believe in you so much, you start to believe in you too. The people that love you, simply for being you. The once in a lifetime kind of people."

I would like to acknowledge several individuals for their contributions to this thesis. **Dr. Peter Ngan**, for his endless encouragement, support and guidance throughout the entire process. **Dr. Tung Nguyen**, for dedicating his valuable time to educate me on color map superimpositions and assisting me with the related data analysis. **Dr. Fernanda Angelieri**, for also offering her precious time to help me assess the individual midpalatal suture maturation. **Dr. Tim Tremont and Dr. Chris Martin**, for their encouragement and advice throughout the process. **Dr. Gerry Hobbs** for his help with the statistical analysis.

I dedicate this thesis to my wonderful family, particularly my parents. Thank you for giving me life and for always encouraging and supporting me to do what makes my heart smile. I also dedicate this thesis to my life-long friends. Thank you for playing a role in shaping me into the person I am today. I feel truly blessed to have been gifted with the loving family and friends that I have in this lifetime.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ABSTRACT	IV
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS AND DEDICATIONS	III
TABLE OF CONTENTS	IV
LIST OF TABLES	VII
CHAPTER 1: INTRODUCTION	1
BACKGROUND	1
PURPOSE AND SIGNIFICANCE OF STUDY	
NULL HYPOTHESES (H ₀)	
Assumptions	
LIMITATIONS	
DELIMITATIONS	
CHAPTER 2: REVIEW OF THE LITERATURE	5
TRANSVERSE GROWTH AND DEVELOPMENT OF THE MAXILLA	
MAXILLARY TRANSVERSE DEFICIENCY: DESCRIPTION, PREVALENCE, AND ETIOLOGY	
HISTORY OF RAPID PALATAL EXPANSION (RPE)	9
INDICATIONS AND CONTRAINDICATIONS OF RPE	
SKELETAL AND DENTOAL VEOLAR EFFECTS OF CONVENTIONAL RPE	
SURGICALLY ASSISTED RAPID PALATAL EXPANSION (SARPE)	
MICRO-IMPLANT ASSISTED RAPID PALATAL EXPANSION (MARPE)	
CHAPTER 3: EXPERIMENTAL MATERIALS AND METHODS	
SAMPLE DESCRIPTION AND COLLECTION	
Inclusion Criteria	
Exclusion Criteria	
APPLIANCE DESCRIPTION	
CBCT IMAGE ANALYSIS	
A. Measurement Error Analysis	

В.	CBCT Image Volume Reorientation	
C.	Midpalatal Suture Maturation Assessment	
D.	Total Expansion	
E.	Midpalatal Suture Expansion Pattern	
F.	Alveolar Bone Bending	
E. De	ntal Tipping	
G.	Buccal Bone Thickness Analysis	
H.	Craniofacial Expansion Assessment	
CHAPTER	4: RESULTS	
SAMPLE AN	ALYSIS	
INTRA-RATE	ER RELIABILITY ANALYSIS	
TOTAL EXP	ANSION	
MIDPALATA	LL SUTURE EXPANSION	
Axial	View	
Coror	nal View	
ALVEOLAR	BONE BENDING	
DENTAL TIP	PING	
BUCCAL BO	NE THICKNESS	
CRANIOFAC	IAL EXPANSION	
DISCUSSI	ON	
SKELETAL E	EXPANSION	
Midp	alatal Suture Separation	51
Upper	r Facial Bony Displacement	
DENTOALVE	EOLAR EXPANSION	
Alveo	olar Bone Bending and Dental Tipping	
PERIODONT.	al Effects	
MIDPALATA	L SUTURE MATURATION ASSESSMENT	61
CHAPTER	6: SUMMARY AND CONCLUSIONS	
CHAPTER	7: RECOMMENDATIONS FOR FUTURE RESEARC	СН63

REFERENCES	66 79
APPENDIX A: IRB EXPEDITED	79
APPENDIX B: STATISTICS	81
Raw Data	
Midpalatal Suture Expansion	
Palatal Alveolar Bone Bending	83
Palatal Maxillary Width	
Dental Tipping	
Intermolar Width	85
Buccal Bone Thickness	
Craniofacial Expansion Assessment	
Statistical Analysis	87

LIST OF TABLES

Table 1. Description of maxillary transverse discrepancy assessment
Table 2. Description of individual midpalatal suture maturation assessment
Table 3. Description of sample study. 37
Table 4. Mean values of T1, T2 and (T2-T1) for the tested variables
Table 5. Matched-paired t-test comparing T1 values taken at least 2 weeks apart for tested variables 39
Table 6. Matched-paired t-test comparing T2 values taken at least 2 weeks apart for tested variables 40
Table 7. Average widths (mm) at various anatomic sites on a coronal cross-sectional slice through the
center of M1 for T1, T2 and (T2-T1)
Table 8. Average midpalatal suture expansion (mm) measured at canine (C), first premolar (P1), second
premolar (P2) and first molar (M1)
Table 9. Average midpalatal suture expansion (mm) measured at the nasal and palatal floor
Table 10. Matched-paired t- test comparing midpalatal suture separation (mm) measured at the nasal and
palatal floor
Table 11. Average palatal alveolar angle (o) measured at P1 and M1 on the right and left sides44
Table 12. Matched-paired t-test comparing T1 and T2 mean palatal alveolar angle (o) at P1 and M1 on the
right and left sides
Table 13. Average dental tipping angle (o) measured at P1 and M1 on the right and left sides45
Table 14. Matched-paired t-test comparing T1 and T2 mean dental tipping angle (o) at P1 and M1 on the
right and left sides
Table 15. Average buccal bone thickness (mm) measured at first premolar (P1), mesiobuccal root of first
molar (MB-M1) and distobuccal root of first molar (DB-M1) on the right and left sides46
Table 16. Matched-paired t-test comparing T1 and T2 mean buccal bone thickness (mm) for P1, MB-M1,
and DB-M1 on the right and left sides
Table 17. Average right and left zygomatic and infrazygomatic expansion (mm) measured at T1 and T2
from three-dimensional superimposition color maps in Figure 12
Table 18. Matched-paired t-test comparing the changes of respective right and left zygomatic and
infrazygomatic expansion (mm)

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1. Cervical Vertebral Maturation assessment diagram	20
Figure 2. Landmark illustration for maxillary transverse discrepancy assessment	21
Figure 3. Maxillary Skeletal Expander (MSE) fabrication	.22
Figure 4. CBCT head orientation in three planes of space	24
Figure 5. Schematic diagram of individual midpalatal suture maturational stages	26
Figure 6. Measurement of sutural expansion (SEM), palatal maxillary width (PMW) and intermolar wid	lth
(IMW) on a coronal cross-sectional slice through the midportion of M1	27
Figure 7. Identification of canine (C), first premolar (P1), second premolar (P2) and first molar (M1) on	ı
an axial cross-sectional slice through M1 furcation.	29
Figure 8. Measurement of sutural expansion on an axial cross-sectional slice through the midpalate at C	-,
P1, P2, and M1	30
Figure 9. Measurement of sutural expansion at the nasal and palatal floor on a coronal cross-sectional	
slice through the midportion of M1	31
Figure 10. Measurement of palatal alveolar angle (PAA) for M1 on a coronal cross-sectional slice throu	ıgh
the midportion of the tooth	32
Figure 11. Measurement of dental tipping angle (DTA) for M1 on a coronal cross-sectional slice throug	;h
the midportion of the tooth	33
Figure 12. Measurement of buccal bone thickness (BTT) for P1 and mesiobuccal and distobuccal root o	of
M1 on an axial cross-sectional slice through the furcation of M1.	34
Figure 13. 3D skeletal color maps of superimpositions of T2 over T1 registered at the anterior cranial	
base with a scale of -4 to +4 mm. Red represents outward displacement of T2 relative to T1. Blue	
represents inward displacement	35
Figure 14. Individual midpalatal suture assessment images.	38
Figure 15. Three-dimensional skeletal color maps of superimpositions of T2 over T1 registered at the	
anterior cranial base with a scale of -4 to +4 mm. Red represents outward displacement of T2 relative to)
T1. Blue represents inward displacement of T2 relative to T1.	49

CHAPTER 1: INTRODUCTION

Background

Maxillary transverse deficiency (MTD) is a common problem that is found in patients who seek orthodontic care. It has been reported that 9.4% of the whole population and nearly 30% of adult orthodontic patients have MTD related to a posterior crossbite.⁶⁹ Conventional rapid palatal expansion (RPE) have proven to be a reliable treatment method for correcting transverse skeletal jaw disharmony in prepubertal patients.⁵ However, its use in adult patients has little or no skeletal effects but rather greater dental side effects that may be detrimental to periodontal support.^{5, 12, 37, 64, 97} Surgically assisted rapid palatal expansion (SARPE) has been the common treatment of choice for overcoming the areas highly resistant to maxillary expansion in the adult facial skeleton.^{64, 69, 97} However, the morbidity, risks, and costs related to surgery may discourage many patients from seeking correction through this procedure.^{22, 26, 69} Recently in the orthodontic literature, much attention has been given to microimplant assisted rapid palatal expansion (MARPE) and its use as a nonsurgical treatment option for correcting MTD in adult patients. However, there is limited information available on the skeletal, dentoalveolar and periodontal effects produced by this novel technique specifically relating to skeletal maturity.

Generally, it is known that chronological age is not a precise index in predicting skeletal maturation⁵⁸ and there is tremendous variability in the developmental stages of the midpalatal suture relative to chronological age.⁷ Skeletal maturity may be assessed by the Cervical Vertebral Maturation (CVM) method, which have been shown to be able to detect the greatest mandibular and craniofacial growth increments.^{11, 12} It has been found that the period between Cvs 3 to Cvs4 correlates with the peak in statural height 93.5% of the time.^{11, 12} In short, Cvs 1 through Cvs 3 represent the time before peak in skeletal maturity where Cvs 4 through Cvs 6 represent the time

at or after the peak in skeletal maturity.¹² The application of the CVM method has revealed that skeletal effects of RPE are greater at prepubertal stages, while pubertal or postpubertal use of RPE produces greater dentoalveolar effects.¹¹

Most published studies on RPE utilized bi-dimensional (2-D) radiographs cephalograms or occlusal x-rays. These records present diagnostic and analytical limitations because they give 2-D information of a 3-dimensional (3D) object.⁸¹ Landmark identifications and obtaining exact measurements are difficult with the 2-D images because many structures may superimposed upon each other on multiple planes of space.¹³ With cone-beam computed tomography (CBCT) technology, volumetric images may be obtained that would allow for accurate identification of landmarks and quantification of bony structural changes with minimal distortion and lower radiation dosages compared to medical computed tomography.⁷ CBCT scans are valuable because they can overcome the limitations of 2D imaging as well as allow for quantitative evaluation of bony changes induced by treatment effects.⁴¹

Purpose and Significance of Study

The purpose of this study was to investigate the short-term skeletal, dentoalveolar and periodontal treatment effects associated with microimplant rapid palatal expansion (MARPE) in skeletally matured patients, as assessed by the cervical vertebral maturation (CVM) method, using CBCT imaging. The results of this research will reveal if MARPE can serve as a clinically safe, non-surgical option for correcting maxillary transverse deficiency in post-pubertal adult patients.

Null Hypotheses (H_0)

- 1. There is no midpalatal suture opening in skeletally matured patients treated with MARPE appliance
- 2. There is no significant difference in midpalatal suture opening in the axial plane at the canine (C), first premolar (P1), second premolar (P2), and first molar (M1).
- 3. There is no significant differences in midpalatal suture opening in the coronal plane at nasal and palatal floor.
- 4. There is no change in the transverse width of the facial skeleton at the level of the zygomatic bones.
- 5. There is no significant difference between the expansion at the zygomatic bones compared to the infrazygomatic crests.
- There is no significant difference in the palatal alveolar angle between T1 and T2 measured at P1 and M1.
- There is no significant difference in the dental tipping angle between T1 and T2 measured at P1 and M1.
- There is no significant difference in the buccal bone thickness between T1 and T2 measured at the first premolar (P1), mesiobuccal root of the first molar (MB-M1) and distobuccal root of first the molar (DB-M1).

Assumptions

- Pretreatment CBCT scans were taken prior to any orthodontic or orthopedic intervention and posttreatment scans were taken immediately at the end of MARPE appliance activation.
- 2. The CBCT scans included in this study were of diagnostic quality and were well captured with no patient movement which may introduce radiographic artifacts into the image.

- Cone beam computed tomography with Invivo 5 3D Imaging software allows for accurate landmark identification and quantification of linear and angular measurements.
- Using the CBCT scans, the ITK-SNAP software allows for accurate construction of 3D surface models that can be registered at the anterior cranial fossa and superimposed. Additionally, the software can create 3D graphic renderings for measurements.
- The Slicer CMF 3.1 software allows for precise evaluation of linear measurements on the 3D superimposed models.
- 6. Operators of the CBCT equipment and imaging software understands how to use the technology appropriately.

Limitations

- 1. There was patient variability in terms of gender, ethnicity, age, skeletal maturity, craniofacial anatomy, and bone anatomy and physiology.
- 2. There was treatment variability in terms of the following:
 - a. The amount of appliance activation needed to resolve transverse jaw disharmony
 - b. The position of the appliance anteroposteriorly along the palate
 - c. The number of teeth selected for appliance anchorage
 - d. The number of microimplants used to fixate and anchor appliance to the palate
 - e. The number of bi-cortically engaged microimplants
- 3. Small sample size
- 4. The lack of long-term follow-up of the treatment effects
- Investigator's ability to manipulate 3D imaging software to accurately orient T1 and T2 CBCT scans, determine landmarks, and obtain linear and angular measurements for reliable comparison.

6. Resolution of CBCT in Invivo 5 imaging software and noises and scatter produced by expander and micro-implants made it difficult to precisely identify particular landmarks in some patients (i.e. buccal cortical plate and palatal shelf)

Delimitations

- 1. Subjects selected in postpubertal stages: cervical stage 4, 5, or 6
- Subjects selected based on treatment with particular type of MARPE appliance, the Maxillary Skeletal Expander (MSE).
- Subjects selected if diagnostic, full field of view (17x13 cm) baseline and immediate post-expansion CBCT records were available for evaluation
- 4. Subjects selected if there is no history of previous orthodontic or orthopedic treatment and no craniofacial syndrome or deformities due to abnormal development or trauma

CHAPTER 2: REVIEW OF THE LITERATURE

Transverse Growth and Development of the Maxilla

Understanding the normal transverse development and growth of the maxilla is important in the proper diagnosis and treatment planning of problems that may occur in the horizontal plane. The maxilla is comprised of two distinct bones that connect to the cranial base through circummaxillary sutures including frontomaxillary, zygomaticomaxillary, zygomaticotemporal, and pterygoplataine sutures.^{16, 18, 45, 95} The two halves of the maxilla articulate at the midline through the median palatal suture.¹⁶ Abnormalities in transverse growth may result in dentofacial asymmetries, expanded or constricted jaws, and dental crossbites.⁸⁴

The maxilla undergoes a period of accelerated growth followed by constant growth in the transverse dimension. Nanda and colleagues⁸⁴ showed that the maxilla grows rapid laterally from 8 to 12 years old and increases steadily until full width is achieved at 15 and 16 years in males and females respectively. Maxillary width was observed to be 95-98% complete at age 12 while the mandible continued to show small increase in lateral growth at 18 years of age.⁸⁴ Transverse widening of the maxillary basal bone and alveolar process has been attributed to appositional growth at the maxillary tuberosity and lateral posterior region of the maxilla along with active growth at the median palatal suture.⁵² Bjork and Skieller¹⁹ metallic implant studies revealed that sutural separation of the two maxillae was greater posteriorly than anteriorly by 3 folds, which consequently cause the two parts to rotate in the transverse plane relative to each other. Interestingly in the coronal plane, the average lateral growth at the maxillary base is greater than the growth that occurs at the maxillary first molars, resulting in an inverted triangle^{52, 59} The reported average maxillary intermolar width at age 18 was 55.7 mm for females and 59.5 mm for males.⁸⁴ With respect to the dentition, as maxillary and mandibular intermolar widths increases,

maxillary molars erupt with buccal crown torque while mandibular molars erupt with lingual crown torque, both upright with age. ^{62, 74}

Postnatal morphological midpalatal suture changes have been described. During the first infantile stage, Melsen^{16, 78} reported that the suture is broad and Y shaped, with the placement of the vomerine bone in a V-shaped groove between the two halves of the maxilla. Overtime, the median palatal suture appears wavier and more tortuous due to the development of bony interdigitations across the suture.⁷⁸ The ossification process in the median palatal suture begins with formation of bone spicules in the sutural gap along with masses of acellular and inconsistently calcified tissues, referred to as "islands".^{28, 63, 89} Sutural interdigitation increases with maturation and eventually intensify until the right and left maxillary bones fuse together, with ossification progressing from the posterior to anterior end.^{16, 62, 89}

Fusion of the median palatal suture vary with sex and age. Previous implant studies of Bjork and Skieller¹⁹ showed the peak rate of maxillary transverse sutural growth occurred during pubertal growth spurt and does not complete, on average, until 17 years of age. Melson⁷⁸ observed growth activity in the midpalatal suture continued beyond age 13 to 14 years old, up to age 16 and 18 in girls and boys respectively. Similarly, Persson and Thilander⁸⁹ noted fusion of the midpalatal suture in patients 15 to 19 years old. However, the lack of fusion of this suture has been reported in patients at ages 32,⁸⁹ 54,⁶² and 71⁶³. The inconsistent findings show there is tremendous intrasutural and interindividual variability in the developmental stages of the midpalatal suture, which also does not directly relate to chronologic age.^{7, 62, 89, 103} Despite the conflicting literature, it is a widespread belief that the midpalatal suture is patent through early mid-teens years and ossify or heavily interdigitate at late teens and adulthood.⁵⁹

7

Maxillary Transverse Deficiency: Description, Prevalence, and Etiology

Maxillary transverse deficiency (MTD) commonly contributes to the malocclusion of patients seeking orthodontic treatment. It is a skeletal condition that is characterized by a constricted maxilla relative to the surrounding structures of the craniofacial complex in the horizontal dimension.¹⁶ Clinically, it may be distinguished by a narrow palatal vault and is commonly associated with problems such as dental crowding, protrusion of teeth, and unilateral or bilateral posterior crossbite.^{23, 30, 75} The literature has reported 8-23% of children and less than 10% of adults have a transverse discrepancy between the maxillary and mandibular arch.^{29, 55} However, considering the adult orthodontic population, it has been reported that 30% of adult patients have MTD related to a posterior crossbite.⁶⁹ Belluzo et al¹⁶ showed that 32.3% of patients diagnosed with MTD present with greater constriction in the anterior region compared to the posterior region.

Multiple etiological factors have been described for maxillary transverse deficiency. Causes of the condition may include developmental disturbances, such as clefts in the lip and palate, mouth breathing, parafunctional habits like thumb sucking, atypical phonation and swallowing. ^{5, 17, 55, 73, 84, 93} Poor tongue posture, an imbalance of perioral muscles, a lack of lip seal along with labial hypotonicity may also contribute to maxillary constriction. ⁸⁴ Malocclusion, such as open bite⁵⁴, Class II Division I¹⁰⁰, or Class III¹⁶, have also been found to influence the transverse development of the jaws. Tollaro et al.¹⁰⁰ have shown that a Class II patient usually has a 3 to 5 mm transverse discrepancy between the maxilla and mandible even when it appears that bucco-lingual relationship in the posterior dentition is normal.

It has been well documented that correction of MTD facilitates other orthodontic/orthopedic mechanics and enhances dental and facial esthetics, oral function, nasal mucociliary clearance,

and nasal respiration.^{9, 33, 43, 87} Therefore, continuous research has been performed to improve MTD treatment modalities while reducing associated negative side effects.

History of Rapid Palatal Expansion (RPE)

Rapid palatal expansion (RPE) is a common procedure that is used to correct maxillary transverse deficiency. The basis of this treatment method relies on palatal devices that can generate considerable orthopedic forces to separate the maxilla at the midpalatal suture and increase its width laterally.^{35, 36} Maxillary expansion is achieved when the force applied to the teeth and maxillary alveolar processes exceeds the threshold required for orthodontic tooth movement.¹⁸ RPE remains well recognized in the orthodontic profession and the treatment modality has evolved greatly since it's early use in the 1800s.

RPE was initially proposed by Emerson C. Angell⁸ in 1860 but did not gain popularity until Andrew Haas reintroduced the technique in the 1900s known as the "maxillary expansion years". ¹⁰⁴ Haas^{5, 46, 48} presented a fixed tooth-tissue-borne expander that consisted of a rigid metal frame work anchored off the maxillary first premolars and molars, a centered expansion screw and lateral palatal acrylic pads. Advocates of the tissue-borne fixed appliance believe the split palatal acrylic design can distribute the expansive force more evenly between the posterior teeth and the palatal vault, thereby producing less tooth movement and more orthopedic displacement of the maxillae. ^{5,44} Since the introduction of the Haas expander, various RPE designs have been developed. One widely recognized expander appliance is the Hyrax device.

The Hyrax appliance is a tooth-borne expansion device.³⁵ It consists of a metal framework with a center nonspring-loaded jackscrew supported by posterior teeth and no acrylic pads.³⁵ This appliance is believed to be more hygienic, provide greater comfort, and reduce

irritation of the palatal mucosa¹⁸ compared to the Haas expander.^{35, 47} Although the Hyrax appliance presumably deliver lateral forces to the maxilla only through the anchored teeth, studies have reported that both tooth-borne and tooth tissue-borne expanders tended to produce similar expansion effects.³⁵

Indications and Contraindications of RPE

Although RPE is an effective method in facilitating orthodontic correction in the transverse plane, not all patients are good candidates for this treatment modality. Patients who have moderate upper arch crowding or unilateral or bilateral posterior crossbites as a result of maxillary constriction may particularly benefit from RPE treatment.^{5, 42, 104} Individuals with anteroposterior discrepancies with a narrow upper jaw such as skeletal Class II, Division 1 or Class III malocclusion with borderline skeletal and pseudo Class III problems are also suitable candidates for treatment with an expander device.^{18, 43, 48, 104} Cleft lip and palate patients with collapsed maxillae are also RPE candidates.¹⁸

The literature lists several contraindications for RPE treatment. Patients who have a single tooth in crossbite, anterior open bites, steep mandibular planes, and convex profiles are generally not good candidates for RPE^{4, 104} Patients who have marked skeletal problems including maxillo-mandibular asymmetries and severe anteroposterior or vertical skeletal discrepancies are also not well-suited for RPE.¹⁸ However, if orthognathic surgery is a part of the treatment plan, RPE may be used to facilitate the surgical treatment if transverse discrepancy exist between the maxilla and mandible.¹⁸

Skeletal and Dentoalveolar Effects of Conventional RPE

RPE produces a combination of skeletal and dental transverse changes and the effects of conventional RPE appliances have been most widely investigated. During the expansion process, lateral forces from the appliance compresses the periodontal ligament, bends the alveolar processes and tips the anchor teeth before the midpalatal suture is opened gradually.⁴⁴ From an occlusal view, the midpalatal suture have been observed to separate in a nonparallel, wedge-shaped manner where the apex is towards the posterior nasal spine and the wider base is towards the anterior nasal spine.^{36, 56, 104} In the frontal plane, the maxillary suture was also found to separate in a nonparallel pattern superioinferiorly, producing a pyramidal shape where the apex is in the nasal cavity and the base is towards the oral cavity.^{5, 18, 104} In a study by Garrett et al.³⁶, it was reported that midpalatal suture separation (skeletal expansion) accounted for 38% of total expansion at the first molar.

Individual variability exists with the magnitude of midpalatal suture opening following RPE treatment.^{5, 18} Clinically, separation of the median suture can be confirmed with the appearance of a midline diastema between the central incisors.^{18, 47, 76} Adkins et al¹ demonstrated that approximately 0.7 mm of arch perimeter may be achieved with every 1 mm of first premolar expansion produced by the Hyrax appliance. The space gained from RPE may be helpful in alleviating crowding in the maxillary dental arch, partially if not completely.^{36, 76} During active suture opening, it has been estimated that the incisors separate approximately half the distance of the expansion screw opening;⁴⁴ however, authors have cautioned against using the width of the diastema as a measurement of suture separation.¹⁰⁴

RPE have been reported to change the position of the maxillary halves in the frontal and sagittal plane. Haas⁴⁷, Wertz¹⁰⁴ and Chung²⁷ found the maxilla moves forward and downward

with RPE, an effect similar to the normal physiological growth of the maxilla. The change in the maxilla position invariably causes a downward and backward rotation of the mandible, decreasing the effective length of the mandible and increasing the lower face vertically.^{18,47} This may particularly be useful in correction of anterior crossbites in skeletal Class III patients.^{45,47} However, the final position of the maxilla at the end of treatment is unpredictable and have been reported to return partially⁴⁷ or completely¹⁰⁴ to its original position. In the frontal plane, the two parts of the maxilla tip laterally with the fulcrum of rotation approximately at the frontomaxillary suture.^{44,46,104} Implant studies⁵³ have shown the maxillae to tip between -1 to +8 degrees, which reduces the lateral widening at the sutural level compare to the dental level. After stabilization is terminated, residual forces in displaced tissues are said to act on the alveolar process, causing them to rebound.⁵⁷ Furthermore, RPE have been reported to transversely widen the base of the nasal cavity, which may lead to decreased nasal air resistance and improve nasal breathing.^{27, 33, 48,76}

With conventional RPE, expansive forces are transmitted to the anchoring teeth before reaching the bony maxillae, rendering dentoalveolar effects unavoidable. Buccal dental tipping and translation as well as lateral maxillary alveolar bone bending have been observed.^{18, 36, 47, 61} Lateral dental tipping have been reported to account for 49% of total expansion at the first molar.³⁶ Hicks⁵³ observed the angulation between the supporting first molars increased from 1-24 degrees during expansion. It has been shown that maxillary alveolar bone bent buccally 4.75³⁶ to 5.6⁶² degrees and accounted for 13% of total expansion at the first molar.³⁶ Due to potential buccal dental tipping, the initial angulation of the molars and premolars should be kept in mind when considering RPE. When teeth used for appliance anchorage are buccally inclined, conventional expansion will tip them further into the buccal musculature.¹⁸

Dental buccal movement caused by RPE is a relevant orthodontic concern due to the possible related periodontal consequences. It has been reported that RPE may reduce the buccal bone plate thickness of the supporting teeth by 30-60% while proportionally increasing the palatal alveolar bone thickness. ^{13, 34, 37} This effect is due to the response of the periodontal ligament and bone to sustained force, where bone resorption occurs on the pressure side and apposition on the tension side.^{18, 59} A decrease in buccal alveolar bone width and height may increase the risk for gingival recession especially in the presence of buccal dehiscence or fenestrations.^{13, 104} However, both buccal and lingual bone thickness have been observed to recover after a retention period of 6 months but the magnitude and duration of recovery was not reported^{13, 59}

Maxilllary expansion through conventional means is most predictable and successful in adolescents; however, achieving adequate expansion in non-growing individuals may be difficult or impossible without surgical assistance.^{6, 18, 64} As previously mentioned, contiguous bones become more rigid, especially at the zygomaticofrontal buttress over time.^{47, 78} The zygomatic and sphenoid bones are said to be main areas that resist expansion and not the midplatal suture.¹⁸ Haas reported that it is frequently impossible to achieve maxillary expansion entirely with a tooth-supported expander after the age of 18 years old.⁴⁷ Bishara et al.¹⁸ recognized that although it may be possible to accomplish expansion in adults, the results are neither as predictable nor as stable compared to RPE in adolescents. However, there are a few reports in the literature that state maxillary expansion by non-surgical, traditional means is as successful in adults as it is in children.^{49, 50}

Unsuccessful expansion in skeletally matured patients by utilizing conventional modes may lead to detrimental effects. Baccetti et al.¹⁰ demonstrated that patients treated after the

13

pubertal growth spurt with traditional RPE exhibited more dentoalveolar rather than skeletal changes. These unwanted effects may include but are not limited to lateral tipping of posterior teeth, extrusion, buccal root resorption, alveolar bone bending, and palatal tissue necrosis.⁹⁷ With greater dental displacement, there is an increased risk for periodontal complications.^{34, 64, 97} The more teeth move buccally, the thinner the buccal alveolar bone and gingiva becomes, which predisposes the teeth to a greater chance for bony dehiscence, fenestrations and gingival recession.³⁷ Other unwanted effects that Haas⁴⁷ explained failure to open the midpalatal suture during RPE could result in extreme dental pain, teeth perforating through the buccal alveolar plate and potentially unstable buccolingual angulations of supporting teeth.

Surgically Assisted Rapid Palatal Expansion (SARPE)

Surgically assisted rapid palatal expansion (SARPE) has been advocated to correct maxillary transverse deficiency of greater than 5⁹⁷ to 7⁹¹ mm in skeletally mature patients. It has been said that once skeletal maturity has been reached, orthodontic treatment alone cannot provide stable widening of the maxilla for deficiencies greater than 5mm.⁶⁴ The technique traditionally involves several corticotomies to release areas resistant to expansion followed by activation of a tooth-borne expander to distract the two halves of the maxilla.⁶⁴ The areas resistant to lateral forces in the midface include the piriform aperture (anterior), the ossified midpalatal suture (median), the zygomatic buttress (lateral), and the pterygoid junction (posterior).⁶⁴ Studies have shown that the major resistant sites for achieving parallel maxillary expansion is not the median palatal suture, but rather, it is the facial sutures including the zygomaticotemporal, zygomaticofrontal and zygomaticomaxillary sutures.^{15, 72, 104} Although segmental LeFort I osteotomy may also facilitate the surgical correction of maxillary transverse discrepancy⁹⁷, only SARPE is able to provide dental arch space for alignment of crowded teeth by means of a diastema.⁶⁴ Chamberlain and Proffit reported achieving about 46% of skeletal expansion immediately after SARPE.²⁴

Many orthodontists consider the patient age as an important factor for choosing between a nonsurgical or surgical approach to maxillary expansion. However, the literature presents conflicting views regarding at what age is surgical assistance required for correcting a narrow maxilla. Surgical assistance for maxillary expansion have been recommended for patients over the age of 14⁷⁹, 16³², and 25 years. Alpern and Yurosko more specifically suggested SARPE for men over age 25 and women over age 20 for the correction of maxillary transverse deficiency. Adding to the confusion is the reported success in achieving maxillary expansion in older adults.^{3, 21, 50, 56, 69}

Compared to non-surgical, conventional RPE, SARPE is believed to reduce dentoalveolar effects and periodontal complications.^{64, 97} However, with the combined use of a tooth-borne expander, lateral forces are still delivered to the anchored teeth which inevitably compress the periodontal ligament and may lead to alveolar bone resorption, higher incidence of cortical fenestration and buccal root resorption.^{79, 97} Sygouros et al.⁹⁸ evaluated the effects of surgically assisted rapid maxillary expansion with cone-beam computed tomography imaging and found there was significant buccal alveolar bending as well as posterior teeth buccal tipping and buccal alveolar bone loss, especially when there was a lack of surgical disjunction of the pterygoid plates. Some studies indicated that expansion effects of SARPE are similar to those obtained with RME alone, even though the plate and alveolar base are separated surgically from the maxillary complex prior to appliance activation.^{67, 92, 101} To reduce the unwanted dentoalveolar effects and potential anchorage loss and relapse, authors have recommended the use of a bone-borne titatinum device in combination with surgical assistance.⁷⁹

Although SARPE increases the predictability and success of maxillary expansion in nongrowing patients, the procedure is invasive and associated with various complications. Serious surgical risks may include but is not limited to life-threatening epistaxis, cerebrovascular accident, skull-base fracture with reversible oculomotor nerve pareses and orbital compartment syndrome.^{65, 90} Other complications such as postoperative hemorrhage, pain, sinusitis, palatal tissue irritation or ulceration, asymmetrical expansion, nasal septum deviation, and relapse may also be experienced by a patient undergoing SARPE.⁷⁷ Some unusual complications that have also been reported include orbital compartment syndrome resulting in blindness, bilateral lingual anesthesia, and a nasopalatine canal cyst.⁹⁷ Treatment with SARPE may also be costly and require a long recovery time for some patients. Nevertheless, in cases of extreme transverse maxillary hypoplasia and where orthodontic maxillary expansion has failed due to sutural resistance, SARPE remains the most commonly recommended treatment for patients.⁶⁴

Micro-implant Assisted Rapid Palatal Expansion (MARPE)

In recent years, micro-implant assisted rapid palatal expansion (MARPE) has been utilized to maximize the orthopedic separation of the maxilla and overcome the disadvantages presented by tooth-borne and tooth-tissue borne expansion appliances. The technique involves using a hyrax jackscrew that is anchored to posterior teeth and fixated to the palate with miniscrews.^{41, 81, 98} The tooth-bone-borne appliance provides several advantages including the lack of need for invasive surgery, cost-effective, and can be used in patients with inadequate dental anchorage.¹⁰⁵ This newer approach has been under investigation and its effects have been evaluated and compared to conventional rapid palatal expansion.

MARPE have shown to be effective at orthopedically expanding the maxilla with a clinically detectable diastema in young adolescents.^{41, 81} The dentoalveolar effects associated

with this novel technique have been reported to be minimal or nonsignificant compared to conventional RPE.⁴¹ In a comparative study between tooth-borne and bone-borne devices, Mosleh et al.⁸² observed significant increases in transverse dentolinear measurements in both groups; however, the tooth-borne expansion group showed greater increases in the tested variables. Lin et al.⁷⁰ also concluded that bone-borne expanders produce greater orthopedic changes and fewer dentoalveolar tipping than the Hyrax expander. The microimplants incorporated in the MARPE technique enable greater expansive forces to be distributed towards the rigid midpalatal suture and away from the teeth supporting the appliance, which leads to a decrease in adverse dentoalveolar changes and periodontal effects.²²

The pattern of expansion resulting from MARPE have shown to differ from conventional RPE. Toklu et al.⁴¹ observed a reverse "V" expansion pattern with increase in intermolar distances almost 3 times greater than the increase in the distance between the first premolars. In contrast, Wilmes et al.¹⁰⁵ reported a V-shaped expansion pattern with the wider base towards the anterior area in patients treated with the tooth-bone-borne expanders. Lin et al.⁷¹ found the skeletal expansion pattern in the hyrax group was triangular, with a wider base at the anterior portion of the maxilla, whereas the pattern was parallel in the bone-borne expander group. In the front perspective, Lin et al.⁷¹ observed a triangular pattern for both groups, with the least increase at the nasal floor and the greatest increased at the hard palate. The variation in sutural opening pattern may be due to difference in appliance fabrication utilizing zero, two, or four posterior teeth for appliance support and/ or the location of expander and TADs placement. The observed dental effects were consistent with those noted by Lin et al.⁷¹ Nonetheless, bone-borne expanders was shown to produced greater statistically significant increases in suture expansion than did the hyrax group.⁷¹

CHAPTER 3: EXPERIMENTAL MATERIALS AND METHODS

Sample Description and Collection

This study has been approved by the Institutional Review Board of West Virginia University (see *Appendix C*) and serves as a retrospective, non-randomized pilot investigation. Fifteen patients from the archives of West Virginia University Orthodontic Department, who were treated with micro-implant assisted rapid palatal expansion (MARPE), were selected for this study.

Inclusion Criteria

Subjects were selected based on the following criteria:

1. Treatment with MARPE, particularly with the use of Maxillary Skeletal Expander (MSE), to correct maxillary transverse deficiency

- Full field of view (17x13 cm) CBCT scans of diagnostic quality, including all pertinent anatomy, captured before and immediately after expansion treatment.
- 3. Presented with a cervical vertebral maturation (CVM) stage of 4 or greater based on the method published by Baccetti¹¹ et al.
- 4. No history of previous orthodontic or orthopedic treatment
- No craniofacial syndrome or deformities due to abnormal development or trauma

Exclusion Criteria

Subjects were excluded base on the following criteria:

- 1. Lack of full field of view CBCT scans at baseline or immediate postexpansion.
- 2. Lack of skeletal maturity due to a cervical vertebral maturation (CVM) stage of 3 or below based on the method published by Baccetti¹¹ et al.

Pretreatment (T1) and an immediate post-expansion (T2) CBCT scans were collected for each patient. The scanned tomographic images were de-identified and coded with numbers to protect patient privacy. All CBCT images were required by the clinicians for diagnosis and treatment of these patients. The CBCT scan images were obtained with the Gendex GX-DP-700 cone-beam 3-dimensional imaging scanner. The chosen field of view was 17x13 cm with a 300 voxel size and 16 bit gray scale. Exposure components were pre-adjusted to the selected field of view: 11.30 seconds scan time, 85 KV, and 4.0 mA. All subjects were scanned in supine position, upright head posture and in maximum intercuspation (MICP). The data of each patient were reconstructed with 0.0 mm slice thickness, and the DICOM (digital imaging and communications in medicine) images were assessed by using Invivo 5 advance 3D imaging software (Anatomage, San Jose, CA).

Individual skeletal maturity was assessed for the sample using the cervical vertebral maturation (CVM) method published by Baccetti¹¹ et al (Figure 1). Patients presented with cervical stage (CS) 4 or greater were categorized as skeletally matured and included in the study. Two evaluators (P.N. and K.U.N.) were employed to judge the skeletal maturation. The judges were calibrated and the sample was included in the study if both judges agreed on the same CVM stage. Seven patients were excluded from the original sample due to inadequate tomograms or lack of skeletal maturity. The remaining 8 subjects (2 females, 6 males) were skeletally matured with a mean age: 21.9 years. None of the subjects possessed craniofacial abnormalities nor a history of previous orthodontic or orthopedic therapy.





The amount of expansion each subject received varied with the magnitude of transverse discrepancy between their upper and lower jaw. Cast analysis measuring cusp tip-fossa relationship was used to quantify the maxillary transverse discrepancy for each patient at the

canine, first premolar, and first molar area as described in Table 1 and shown in Figure 2. All measurements were adjusted for the uprighting of posterior teeth.

Area of Maxillary Transverse	Equation for Maxillary Transverse	
Discrepancy Assessment	Discrepancy Calculation	
	[width between distofacial surfaces of	
Canine	mandibular canines] - [width between	
	mesiolingual surfaces of maxillary canines]	
	[width between central fossae of mandibular	
First premolar	first premolars] - [width between palatal cusp	
	tip of maxillary first premolars]	
	[width between central fossae of mandibular	
First molar	first molars] - [width between palatal cusp tip	
	of maxillary first molars]	

Table 1. Description of maxillary transverse discrepancy assessment



Figure 2. Landmark illustration for maxillary transverse discrepancy assessment

Appliance Description

The patients included in this study were treated with the maxillary skeletal expander (MSE), a specific type of microimplant assisted rapid palatal expansion appliance manufactured by BioMaterials Korea, Inc (Figure 3). The appliance consists of a central expansion screw and four attached arms that may be soldered to orthodontic bands, pre-fitted around anchored teeth to facilitate the placement of the appliance along the palate. Welded to the central expansion screw are four tubes that serve as guides for the placement of four microimplants. The microimplants allow for fixation of the expander flushed to the palate and are 1.5-1.8 mm in diameter and 11 mm in length. The microimplant length allows for bi-cortical engagement of the palatal and nasal floor, while the diameter allows for a secure fit within the tubes, reducing the magnitude of lateral force transfer to anchored teeth during appliance activation.



Figure 3. Maxillary Skeletal Expander (MSE) fabrication

Although the same expander appliance was used for all patients in the study sample, there were variations relating to the following:

- Number of teeth selected for appliance anchorage. The expander was either banded to four teeth (first premolars and first molars) or two teeth (first molars only) (Figure 3).
- 2. **Appliance position.** The expander appliance was place in one of three locations along the palate:
 - a. On the inclines of the anterior palate distal to the second or third rugae (anterior position).
 - b. On the flat surface of the palate around the level of the permanent second premolar (middle position).

- c. On the flat surface of the palate 1 mm anterior to the soft palate around the level of the permanent first molar (posterior position).
- 3. **Appliance activation.** The amount of appliance activation each patient received varied with the magnitude of transverse discrepancy between the upper and lower jaw. When the palatal cusp tips of the maxillary first molars were in contact with the corresponding buccal cusp tips of the mandibular first molars, expansion was considered complete and appliance activation was stopped.
- 4. **Number of microimplants used to secure appliance to the palate.** Two or four microimplants were selected to fixate the expander to the palate.

CBCT Image Analysis

A. Measurement Error Analysis

The same examiner took all measurements for the tested variables at least two weeks apart. Matched-paired t-tests were used to assess intra-examiner reliability. Respective measurements were averaged to adjust for measurement error and used for further statistical analysis.

B. CBCT Image Volume Reorientation

For purposes of standardizing the image analysis procedure and setting an identical reference plane for the T1 and T2 stages, all CBCT volumes were adjusted in three planes of space (coronal, sagittal, and axial). The image volume reorientation process was adopted from Molen, A⁵⁹ and performed within the render volume section of the Invivo5 imaging software (Figure 4).

The coronal view (frontal perspective) of the 3-D image volume was oriented parallel to software's horizontal position indicator line that connected the left and right medial termini of

the zygomaticofrontal (ZF) sutures. The ZF line served as a stable reference because its location is in the superior third of the craniofacial complex, which has been described to be adequately distant from the sources of most facial asymmetries. ⁸⁸

The sagittal view (right lateral perspective) of the 3-D image volume was re-oriented parallel to the software's horizontal line that connected the right porion (Po), superior point of the external auditory meatus, and orbitale (Or), the inferior margin of the orbit. These same landmarks are used to establish the Frankfort plane as described by the World Congress on Anthropology in Frankfurt am Main, Germany in 1884.⁵¹ A study by Daboul et al. revealed excellent intra-examiner reproducibility and inter-examiner reliability of Frankfort Horizontal plane through 3D landmark identification in MRI images and have suggested that the FH plane is



Figure 4. CBCT head orientation in three planes of space

a sufficiently stable landmark-based reference plane for craniofacial structures and treatment analysis.³¹

The axial view (inferior perspective) of the 3-D image volume was oriented parallel to the software's horizontal line that connected the left and right medial termini of the zygomaticotemporal (ZT) sutures. As described by Molen,⁵⁹ the ZT line facilitate the reorientation of the volume's yaw.

C. Midpalatal Suture Maturation Assessment

Individual midpalatal suture maturation was evaluated for the sample by one expert examiner (F.A.) using a novel classification method proposed by Angelieri⁶ et al. The visual analysis system is the first to evaluate overall midpalatal suture morphology using CBCT and involves radiographic interpretation of all palate axial cross-sections for adequate staging. Five maturational stages (A-E) were developed to describe the degree of midpalatal suture fusion (Table 2, Figure 5). Patients in stages D and E are considered to have partially or completely fused midpalatal sutures.

Maturational Stages of Midpalatal Suture	Definition of Midpalatal Suture Maturational Stage
A	Straight high-density sutural line with no or little
	interdigitation
В	Scalloped appearance of the high-density sutural line
С	Two parallel, scalloped high-density lines that were close
	to each other, separated in some areas by small low-
	density spaces
D	Fusion completed in the palatine bone, with no evidence
	of a suture
E	Fusion anteriorly in the maxilla

 Table 2. Description of individual midpalatal suture maturation assessment



Figure 5. Schematic diagram of individual midpalatal suture maturational stages

D. Total Expansion

Total expansion achieved with RPE appliances includes the direct separation of the maxillary halves at the midpalatal suture (skeletal expansion) along with alveolar bone bending and dental tipping (dentoalveolar expansion). The following equation shows the components of total expansion:





Figure 6. Measurement of sutural expansion (SEM), palatal maxillary width (PMW) and intermolar width (IMW) on a coronal cross-sectional slice through the midportion of M1.

In this study, total expansion (TE) was defined as the change (T2-T1) in the intermolar width (IMW), the distance between the palatal cusp tip of the right and left first molars (M1) measured in a coronal cross-sectional slice through the center of M1 (Figure 6). The sutural expansion in the middle of the palate (SEM) and the palatal maxillary width (PMW) measured at M1 furcation was quantified on the same coronal cross-sectional slice (Figure 6). Alveolar bone bending, defined as any additional palatal alveolar expansion beyond that of sutural separation,
was determined by subtracting SEM from the change (T2-T1) in PMW. Dental tipping was calculated by subtracting SEM and the change in PMW from TE.

E. Midpalatal Suture Expansion Pattern

Axial View

Successful midpalatal suture separation was defined as complete opening of the suture anteroposteriorly. Measurements were made at the canine (C), first premolar (P1), second premolar (P2), and first molar (M1) position. The landmarks were identified and recorded with a small dot on an axial cross-sectional slice through the furcation of M1 (Figure 7). Suture width opening was measured between the right and left external edges of the suture on an axial crosssectional slice through the center of the palate by using the Invivo5 distance measuring tool (Figure 8A-C). The suture external edges were verified in the coronal cross-sectional slice for each tested position (Figure 8D). A one-way ANOVA-Tukey's HSD test was used to compare the mean values of midpalatal suture expansion among C, P1, P2, and M1.



Figure 7. Identification of canine (C), first premolar (P1), second premolar (P2) and first molar (M1) on an axial cross-sectional slice through M1 furcation.



Figure 8. Measurement of sutural expansion on an axial cross-sectional slice through the midpalate at C, P1, P2, and M1.

Coronal View

Midpalatal suture expansion in the coronal view was measured at the nasal and palatal floor on a coronal cross-sectional slice through the center of M1 by connecting the right and left external edges of the suture (Figure 9A). The suture external edges were verified in the axial cross-sectional slice for each tested position (Figure 9B). A Matched-paired t-test was used to compare the suture opening at the nasal and palatal floor.



Figure 9. Measurement of sutural expansion at the nasal and palatal floor on a coronal cross-sectional slice through the midportion of M1.

F. Alveolar Bone Bending

Alveolar bone bending was defined as the degree difference (T2-T1) between the palatal alveolar angle (PAA) measured for the anchored teeth, P1, M1 or both, on a coronal cross-sectional slice through the midportion of the teeth. Figure 10 shows the PAA value obtained for M1 by measuring the intersecting angle formed by a best fit line through the palatal cortical plate and the software's horizontal indicator line that transverse the middle of the palate. A positive change in PAA indicated alveolar bone bending in the buccal direction. A Matched-paired t-test was used to compare T1 and T2 PAA values for each tested variable.



Figure 10. Measurement of palatal alveolar angle (PAA) for M1 on a coronal cross-sectional slice through the midportion of the tooth.

E. Dental Tipping

Dental tipping was defined as the degree difference (T2-T1) between the dental tipping angle (DTA) measured for the anchored teeth, P1, M1 or both, on a coronal cross-sectional slice through the midportion of the teeth. Figure 11 shows the DTA value obtained for M1 by measuring the intersecting angle formed by a best fit line through the long axis of the tooth and the software's horizontal indicator line that transverse the middle of the palate. A positive change in DTA indicated dental tipping in the buccal direction. A Matched-paired t-test was used to compare T1 and T2 DTA values for each tested variable.



Figure 11. Measurement of dental tipping angle (DTA) for M1 on a coronal cross-sectional slice through the midportion of the tooth.

G. Buccal Bone Thickness Analysis

Buccal bone thickness (BBT) was measured for P1, the mesiobuccal root of M1, and the distobuccal root of M1 when P1, M1 or both was used for appliance anchorage on an axial cross-sectional slice through the furcation of M1 (Figure 12). BTT was defined as the perpendicular distance between the most facial surface of the tested tooth and the external aspect of the maxillary buccal cortical plate. A Matched-paired t-test was used to compare T1 and T2 BBT values for each tested variable.



Figure 12. Measurement of buccal bone thickness (BTT) for P1 and mesiobuccal and distobuccal root of M1 on an axial cross-sectional slice through the furcation of M1.

H. Craniofacial Expansion Assessment

Individual facial skeletal changes due to expansion treatment were evaluated at the zygomatic and infrazygomatic areas from superimposed three-dimensional skeletal color maps of T1 and T2 by one expert examiner (T.N.) using protocols developed by Nguyen⁸⁵ et al (Figure 13). Pre-treatment and immediate post-expansion CBCT images were downsized to an isotropic voxel dimension of 0.5 X 0.5 X 0.5 mm to decrease computer processing. CBCT images taken at T1 and T2 were registered using the anterior cranial fossa as reference, an area that is completed growth at 7 years of age.⁸⁵ After the registration procedure, ITK-SNAP, an open-source software, was used to construct 3D surface models of the anatomic structures of interest and to create 3D graphic renderings for measurements. The registered models were evaluated for the greatest surface displacement/ expansion at the zygomatic bone and infrazygomatic crest areas



Figure 13. 3D skeletal color maps of superimpositions of T2 over T1 registered at the anterior cranial base with a scale of -4 to +4 mm. Red represents outward displacement of T2 relative to T1. Blue represents inward displacement

using Slicer CMF 3.1 (<u>Slicer.org</u>). A Matched-paired t-test was used to compare the expansion changes (T2-T1) of the zygomatic and infrazygomatic area on the same side.

CHAPTER 4: RESULTS

Sample Analysis

The final sample consisted of 8 subjects (2 females, 6 males) with a mean age of $21.9 \pm$ 9.73 years. All subjects had a CVM of at least 4 and were considered skeletally matured. Individual midpalatal suture assessment showed 2 patients in stage C, 3 patients in stage D, and 3 patients in stage E (Figure 15). No differentiation was made for medical history or ethnicity. The average appliance activation was 5.61 ± 1.19 mm with mean treatment time of 7.64 ± 5.66 weeks. The appliance was placed in the anterior palate (palatal inclines distal to the second or third rugae) in 4 patients and in the middle of the palate (flat surface around the level of the second premolar) in 4 patients. None of the patients had the expander posteriorly positioned. The number of teeth used for appliance anchorage ranged from 2 to 4 (mean: 3.63). The appliance was secured to the palate with 4 micro-implants, except one patient with 2 micro-implants. Table 3 lists the details for the 8 patients included in this study.

Subject	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	Mean <u>+</u> SD
Age	45	19	21	19	17	17	23	14	21.9 <u>+</u> 9.73
Sex	F	Μ	Μ	Μ	Μ	Μ	F	М	
CVM	5-6	5	4	5	5	5	5	5-6	
Number of Teeth Used	3	4	4	4	2	4	4	4	3.63
for Appliance									
Anchorage									
Appliance Position:	Μ	А	А	Μ	Μ	А	Μ	А	
A (Anterior)									
M (Middle)									
Appliance Activation	6.7	6.24	5.5	5.76	6.5	6.0	5.28	2.93	5.61 <u>+</u> 1.19
(mm)									
Treatment time (weeks)	5	12.8	12.1	17	6.86	2.71	2.57	2	7.64 <u>+</u> 5.66
		6	4						

Number of Inserted Micro-implants	4	2	4	4	4	4	4	4	
Midpalatal Suture Maturation Assessment	С	D	D	E	E	D	E	С	



Figure 14. Individual midpalatal suture assessment images.

Intra-rater reliability Analysis

To improve the accuracy of measurement and minimize error measurement, each tested variable was measured twice one week apart and the average of the two measurements was used for statistical analysis (Table 4). Matched-paired t-test was used to evaluate the intra-rater reliability of the measurements for the tested variables (Tables 5 and 6). No significant differences were found for all the variables tested except for the T2 measurement of the right palatal alveolar angle at the first molar, indicating high level of accuracy in recording these landmarks and measurements. A significant difference was observed for the T2 palatal alveolar angle (degree) measured at the right first molar only (p < 0.05).

Table 4. Mean values of T1, T2 and (T2-T1) for the tested variables

(C) canine; (P1) first premolar; (P2) second premolar; (M1) first molar, (MB-M1) mesial buccal root of first molar; (DB-M1) distal buccal root of first molar

Table 5. Matched-paired t-test comparing T1 values taken at least 2 weeks apart for tested variables

	Variable	Mean 1	Mean 2	Mean Diff	P- value	Sig Diff
Inter-molar	M1	42.59	42.65	0.06	0.72	NS
Width						
(mm)						

			T1 <u>+</u> SD	T2 <u>+</u> SD	(T2-T1) <u>+</u> SD
Inter-molar Width		M1	42.62 <u>+</u> 0.59	48.88 <u>+</u> 2.78	6.26 <u>+</u> 1.31
(mm)					
Palatal Maxillary		M1	31.66 <u>+</u> 2.36	34.94 <u>+</u> 2.15	3.28 <u>+</u> 0.75
Width					
(mm)					
Midpalatal Suture		Nasal	0	2.53 <u>+</u> 0.53	2.53 <u>+</u> 0.53
Expansion in Coronal		Middle	0	2.55 <u>+</u> 0.71	2.55 <u>+</u> 0.71
View (mm)		Palatal	0	2.92 <u>+</u> 0.59	2.92 <u>+</u> 0.59
Midpalatal Suture		С	0	3.53 <u>+</u> 0.80	3.53 <u>+</u> 0.80
Expansion in Axial		P1	0	3.74 <u>+</u> 0.63	3.74 <u>+</u> 0.63
View (mm)		P2	0	3.59 <u>+</u> 0.67	3.59 <u>+</u> 0.67
		M1	0	3.27 <u>+</u> 0.46	3.27 <u>+</u> 0.46
Buccal Bone	Right	P1	1.05 <u>+</u> 0.60	0.51 <u>+</u> 0.74	-0.54 <u>+</u> 0.53
Thickness (mm)		MB-M1	1.14 <u>+</u> 0.69	0.54 <u>+</u> 0.83	-0.60 <u>+</u> 0.46
		DB-M1	1.88 <u>+</u> 0.83	1.39 <u>+</u> 0.96	-0.49 <u>+</u> 0.27
	Left	P1	1.29 <u>+</u> 1.06	0.61 <u>+</u> 0.71	-0.68 <u>+</u> 0.70
		MB-M1	1.06 <u>+</u> 0.92	0.67 <u>+</u> 0.89	-0.39 <u>+</u> 0.50
		DB-M1	2.00 <u>+</u> 0.98	1.73 <u>+</u> 0.87	-0.27 <u>+</u> 0.25
Palatal Alveolar Angle	Right	P1	111.12 <u>+</u> 8.96	119.41 <u>+</u> 15.97	8.29 <u>+</u> 13.22
(degree)		M1	104.45 <u>+</u> 8.76	107.51 <u>+</u> 8.66	3.06 <u>+</u> 4.87
	Left	P1	110.94 <u>+</u> 10.65	108.61 <u>+</u> 6.89	-2.34 <u>+</u> 10.67
		M1	1 <u>3</u> 9 <u>5</u> .16 <u>+</u> 6.04	106.61 <u>+</u> 5.55	1.46 <u>+</u> 5.55
Dental Tipping Angle	Right	P1	87.55 <u>+</u> 3.40	90.11 <u>+</u> 4.37	2.56 <u>+</u> 5.39
(degree)		M1	94.82 <u>+</u> 5.94	102.94 <u>+</u> 7.40	8.01 <u>+</u> 4.82
	Left	P1	90.21 <u>+</u> 5.47	99.38 <u>+</u> 3.83	9.17 <u>+</u> 6.03
		M1	98.21 <u>+</u> 3.86	103.84 <u>+</u> 6.16	5.63 <u>+</u> 2.77

Palatal		M1	31.67	31.64	-0.03	0.87	NS
Maxillary							
Width							
(mm)							
Buccal Bone	Right	P1	1.03	1.06	0.03	0.78	NS
Thickness		MB-M1	1.12	1.16	0.04	0.60	NS
(mm)		DB-M1	1.90	1.86	-0.04	0.75	NS
	Left	P1	1.30	1.28	-0.02	0.89	NS
		MB-M1	1.06	1.05	-0.01	0.98	NS
		DB-M1	2.12	1.88	-0.24	0.05	NS
Palatal	Right	P1	113.27	108.97	-4.30	0.35	NS
Alveolar Angle		M1	105.01	103.89	-1.13	0.36	NS
(degree)	Left	P1	112.37	110.26	-2.11	0.36	NS
		M1	105.09	105.23	0.14	0.34	NS
Dental	Right	P1	87.51	87.59	0.08	0.96	NS
Tipping Angle		M1	95.64	94.00	-1.64	0.12	NS
(degree)	Left	P1	88.96	91.46	2.50	0.20	NS
		M1	98.81	97.61	-1.20	0.20	NS

(C) canine; (P1) first premolar; (P2) second premolar; (M1) first molar, (MB-M1) mesial buccal root of first molar; (DB-M1) distal buccal root of first molar

Table 6. Matched-paired t-test comparing T2 values taken at least 2 weeks apart for tested variables

		Variable	Mean 1	Mean 2	Mean Diff	P- value	Sig Diff
Inter-molar Width		M1	48.83	48.92	0.09	0.62	NS
(mm)							
Palatal		M1	34.83	35.04	0.21	0.13	NS
Maxillary							
Width							
(mm)							
Midpalatal		Nasal	2.45	2.61	0.15	0.11	NS
Suture Expansion in		Middle	2.49	2.61	0.12	0.42	NS
Coronal View		Palatal	2.82	3.01	0.19	0.19	NS
(mm)							
Midpalatal		С	3.69	3.37	-0.31	0.19	NS
Suture		P1	3.71	3.76	0.05	0.78	NS
Expansion in		P2	3.56	3.62	0.06	0.84	NS
Axial View		M1	3.28	3.26	-0.02	0.93	NS
(mm)							
Buccal Bone	Right	P1	0.50	0.52	0.02	0.87	NS
Thickness		MB-M1	0.48	0.61	0.12	0.23	NS
(mm)		DB-M1	1.35	1.43	0.08	0.34	NS

	Left	P1	0.67	0.55	-0.12	0.45	NS
		MB-M1	0.77	0.57	-0.20	0.27	NS
		DB-M1	1.70	1.76	0.06	0.58	NS
Palatal	Right	P1	119.53	119.29	-0.24	0.95	NS
Alveolar Angle		M1	108.84	106.17	-2.67	0.015	*
(degree)	Left	P1	110.71	106.50	-4.21	0.32	NS
		M1	107.74	105.49	-2.25	0.34	NS
Dental Tipping	Right	P1	90.54	89.67	-0.87	0.75	NS
Angle		M1	102.77	102.90	0.13	0.93	NS
(degree)	Left	P1	99.17	99.59	0.41	0.90	NS
		M1	102.15	105.54	3.39	0.32	NS

(C) canine; (P1) first premolar; (P2) second premolar; (M1) first molar, (MB-M1) mesial buccal root of first molar; (DB-M1) distal buccal root of first molar

* p < 0.05

Total Expansion

Total expansion achieved from MARPE treatment was 6.26 ± 1.31 mm, defined as the change in the intermolar width (IMW) of M1. The amount of skeletal expansion that accounted for total expansion was 41%, which was determined by using the mean midpalatal suture expansion (2.55 \pm 0.71 mm) measured in the middle of the palate at M1 (Table 7). This meant the remaining 59% that contributed to total expansion was from dentoalveolar expansion.

		Ν	Mean <u>+</u> SD	Max	Min
Inter-molar width	T1	7	42.62 <u>+</u> 0.59	45.71	38.91
(IMW)	T2	7	48.88 <u>+</u> 2.78	52.20	44.15
	T2-T1	7	6.26 <u>+</u> 1.31	8.75	4.60
Midpalatal suture	T1	7	0	0	0
expansion at the					
middle of the palate	T2	7	2.55 <u>+</u> 0.71	4.06	2.03
	T2-T1	77	2.55 <u>+</u> 0.71	4.06	2.03
Palatal maxillary	T1	7	31.66 <u>+</u> 2.36	34.94	27.74
width (PMW)	T2	7	34.94 <u>+</u> 2.15	37.77	31.77

Table 7. Average widths (mm) at various anatomic sites on a coronal cross-sectional slice through the center of M1 for T1, T2 and (T2-T1).

T2-T1	7	3.28 <u>+</u> 0.75	4.66	2.23
-------	---	--------------------	------	------

Alveolar bone bending and dental tipping are components of dentoalveolar expansion. Alveolar bone bending, calculated by subtracting the mean midpalatal suture separation (2.55 \pm 0.71 mm) measured in the middle of the palate from the change in palatal maxillary width (3.28 \pm 0.75 mm), was 0.73 \pm 0.04 mm. This indicated that alveolar bone bending accounted for 12% of total expansion. The remaining fraction of total expansion derived from dental tipping, which was 47% at the first molar (2.98 \pm 0.56 mm).

Midpalatal Suture Expansion

Axial View

The midpalatal suture was successfully opened in all subjects. Mean midpalatal suture expansion (mm) at C, P1, P2 and M1 ranged from 2.71-4.70 mm, 2.52-4.77 mm, 2.79-4.55 mm, and 2.56-4.05 mm respectively (Table 8). One-way ANOVA combined with a Tukey's HSD (honest significance difference) test showed no significant differences among any two tested variables (p > 0.05) (Appendix B, Table 31). This indicated parallel expansion along the length of the midpalatal suture

Table 8. Average midpalatal suture expansion (mm) measured at canine (C), first premolar (P1), second premolar (P2) and first molar (M1)

Position		Ν	Mean <u>+</u> SD	Max	Min
С	T1	8	0	0	0
	T2	8	3.53 <u>+</u> 0.80	4.70	2.71
	T2-T1	8	3.53 <u>+</u> 0.80	4.70	2.71
P1	T1	8	0	0	0
	T2	8	3.74 <u>+</u> 0.63	4.77	2.52
	T2-T1	8	3.74 <u>+</u> 0.63	4.77	2.52
P2	T1	8	0	0	0
	T2	8	3.59 <u>+</u> 0.67	4.55	2.79
	T2-T1	8	3.59 <u>+</u> 0.67	4.55	2.79

M1	T1	8	0	0	0
	T2	8	3.27 <u>+</u> 0.46	4.05	2.56
	T2-T1	8	3.27 <u>+</u> 0.46	4.05	2.56

Coronal View

Mean midpalatal suture separation (mm) at the nasal and palatal floor ranged from 1.81-3.26 mm, 2.03-4.06 mm, and 2.03-3.99 mm respectively (Table 9). A Matched-paired t-test showed no significant differences between the suture opening at the nasal and palatal floor (p >0.05) (Table 10). This indicated the separation of the midpalatal suture in the coronal view was parallel.

Position		Ν	Mean <u>+</u> SD	Max	Min
Nasal	T1	8	0	0	0
	T2	8	2.53 <u>+</u> 0.53	3.26	1.81
	T2-T1	8	2.53 <u>+</u> 0.53	3.26	1.81
Palatal	T1	8	0	0	0
	T2	8	2.92 <u>+</u> 0.59	3.99	2.03
	T2-T1	8	2.92 <u>+</u> 0.59	3.99	2.03

Table 10. Matched-paired t- test comparing midpalatal suture separation (mm) measured at the nasal and palatal floor

	Ν	Mean <u>+</u> SD	Mean Diff <u>+</u> SD	P-value	Sig Diff
Nasal	8	2.53 <u>+</u> 0.53	0.39 <u>+</u> 0.06	0.09	NS
Palatal	8	2.92 <u>+</u> 0.59			

Alveolar Bone Bending

Alveolar bone bending was defined as the difference between the palatal alveolar angle (PAA) measured at T1 and T2 for the anchored teeth. Mean PAA ($^{\circ}$) at P1 and M1 on the right ranged from 99.65-125.75° and 92.85-116.90° respectively for T1 and 100.75-146.05° and 94.90-116.40° respectively for T2 (Table 11). Mean PAA ° at P1 and M1 on the left ranged from

94.75-127.50° and 97.45-112.95° respectively for T1 and 100.45-115.75° and 98.50-116.00° respectively for T2 (Table 11). Note that P1 and M1 PAA on the right and P1 PAA on the left was measured for 7 patients while M1 PAA on the left was measured for 8 patients. A Matched-paired t-test showed no significant difference was found between the T1 and T2 PAA values for any of the tested variables (p > 0.05) (Table 12).

	Position		Ν	Mean <u>+</u> SD	Max	Min
Right	P1	T1	7	111.12 <u>+</u> 8.96	125.75	99.65
		T2	7	119.41 <u>+</u> 15.97	146.05	100.75
		T2-T1	7	8.29 <u>+</u> 13.22	30.9	-5.75
	M1	T1	7	104.45 <u>+</u> 8.76	116.9	92.85
		T2	7	107.51 <u>+</u> 8.66	116.4	94.9
		T2-T1	7	3.06 <u>+</u> 4.87	11.75	-1.90
Left	P1	T1	7	110.94 <u>+</u> 10.65	127.5	94.75
		T2	7	108.61 <u>+</u> 6.89	116.15	100.45
		T2-T1	7	-2.34 <u>+</u> 10.67	8.5	-22.4
	M1	T1	8	105.16 <u>+</u> 6.04	112.95	97.45
		T2	8	106.61 + 5.55	116.00	98.50
		T2-T1	8	1.46 <u>+</u> 5.55	12.20	-4.90

Table 11. Average palatal alveolar angle (o) measured at P1 and M1 on the right and left sides.

Table 12. Matched-paired t-test comparing T1 and T2 mean palatal alveolar angle (o) at P1 and M1 on the right and left sides.

			Ν	Mean <u>+</u> SD	Mean Diff <u>+</u> SD	SD	P-value	Sig
								Diff
Right	P1	T1	7	111.12 <u>+</u> 8.96	8.29 <u>+</u> 13.22	13.22	0.15	NS
		T2	7	119.41 <u>+</u> 15.97				
	M1	T1	7	104.45 <u>+</u> 8.76	3.06 <u>+</u> 4.87	4.87	0.15	NS
		T2	7	107.51 <u>+</u> 8.66				
Left	P1	T1	7	110.94 <u>+</u> 10.65	-2.34 <u>+</u> 10.67	10.67	0.58	NS
		T2	7	108.61 <u>+</u> 6.89				
	M1	T1	8	105.16 <u>+</u> 6.04	1.46 <u>+</u> 5.55	5.55	0.48	NS
		T2	8	106.61 + 5.55				

Dental Tipping

Dental tipping in degrees was defined as the difference between the dental tipping angle (DTA) measured at T1 and T2 for the anchored teeth. Mean DTA (°) at P1 and M1 on the right ranged from $82.25-91.60^{\circ}$ and $87.00-101.65^{\circ}$ respectively for T1 and $82.40-95.90^{\circ}$ and $93.45-111.10^{\circ}$ respectively for T2 (Table 13). Mean DTA ° at P1 and M1 on the left ranged from 79.75-97.75° and $92.85-103.05^{\circ}$ respectively for T1 and $92.15-104.00^{\circ}$ and $95.85-111.50^{\circ}$ respectively for T2 (Table 13). Note that P1 and M1 DTA on the right and P1 DTA on the left was measured for 7 patients while M1 DTA on the left was measured for 8 patients. A Matched-paired t-test showed a significant difference was found between DTA values for the right M1 and left P1 and M1 positions (p < 0.05) (Table 14).

	Position		Ν	Mean <u>+</u> SD	Max	Min
Right	P1	T1	7	87.55 <u>+</u> 3.40	91.60	82.25
		T2	7	90.11 <u>+</u> 4.37	95.90	82.40
		T2-T1	7	2.56 <u>+</u> 5.39	6.20	-9.20
	M1	T1	7	94.82 <u>+</u> 5.94	101.65	87.00
		T2	7	102.94 <u>+</u> 7.40	111.10	93.45
		T2-T1	7	8.01 <u>+</u> 4.82	17.70	2.65
Left	P1	T1	7	90.21 <u>+</u> 5.47	97.75	79.75
		T2	7	99.38 <u>+</u> 3.83	104.00	92.15
		T2-T1	7	9.17 <u>+</u> 6.03	18.65	1.35
	M1	T1	8	98.21 <u>+</u> 3.86	103.05	92.85
		T2	8	103.84 <u>+</u> 6.16	111.50	95.85
		T2-T1	8	5.63 <u>+</u> 2.77	9.90	2.00

Table 13. Average dental tipping angle (o) measured at P1 and M1 on the right and left sides.

Table 14. Matched-paired t-test comparing T1 and T2 mean dental tipping angle (o) at P1 and M1 on the right and left sides.

			Ν	Mean <u>+</u> SD	Mean Diff <u>+</u> SD	P-value	Sig Diff
Right	P1	T1	7	87.55 <u>+</u> 3.40	2.56 <u>+</u> 5.39	0.26	NS
		T2	7	90.11 <u>+</u> 4.37			
	M1	T1	7	94.82 <u>+</u> 5.94	8.01 <u>+</u> 4.82	0.005	**
		T2	7	102.94 <u>+</u> 7.40			
Left	P1	T1	7	90.21 <u>+</u> 5.47	9.17 <u>+</u> 6.03	0.007	**

	T2	7	99.38 <u>+</u> 3.83			
M1	T1	8	98.21 <u>+</u> 3.86	5.63 <u>+</u> 2.77	0.0007	***
	T2	8	103.84 <u>+</u> 6.16			

** p < 0.01, *** p < 0.001

Buccal Bone Thickness

Buccal bone thickness (BBT) was measured for the first premolar (P1), mesiobuccal root of first molar (MB-M1) and distobuccal root of first molar (DB-M1 (Table 15). Right and left P1 BBT decreased on average by 0.54 ± 0.53 mm (P < 0.05) and 0.68 ± 0.70 mm (P < 0.05) respectively. Right and left MB-M1 BBT decreased by 0.60 ± 0.46 mm and 0.39 ± 0.50 mm respectively while right and left DB-M1 BBT reduced by 0.49 ± 0.27 mm and 0.27 ± 0.25 mm respectively. Matched-paired t-tests showed the reduction in buccal bone thickness for the first molars were all significant (P < 0.05) except for the mesiobuccal root of the left first molar (P > 0.05). Note all variables were measured for 7 patients except for MB-M1 and DB-M1 on the left, which were measured for 8 patients.

Table 15. Average buccal bone thickness (mm) measured at first premolar (P1), mesiobuccal root of first molar (MB-M1) and distobuccal root of first molar (DB-M1) on the right and left sides.

	Position		Ν	Mean <u>+</u> SD	Max	Min
Right	P1	T1	7	1.05 <u>+</u> 0.60	1.90	0.37
		T2	7	0.51 <u>+</u> 0.74	1.49	-0.56
		T2-T1	7	-0.54 <u>+</u> 0.53	0.27	-1.25
	MB-M1	T1	7	1.14 <u>+</u> 0.69	2.15	0.20
		T2	7	0.54 <u>+</u> 0.83	1.39	-0.82
		T2-T1	7	-0.60 <u>+</u> 0.46	-0.09	-1.43
	DB-M1	T1	7	1.88 <u>+</u> 0.83	2.82	0.58
		T2	7	1.39 <u>+</u> 0.96	2.79	-0.03
		T2-T1	7	-0.49 <u>+</u> 0.27	0.02	-0.82
Left	P1	T1	7	1.29 <u>+</u> 1.06	3.48	0.43
		T2	7	0.61 <u>+</u> 0.71	1.41	-0.42
		T2-T1	7	-0.68 <u>+</u> 0.70	0.08	-2.07
	MB-M1	T1	8	1.06 <u>+</u> 0.92	2.87	0.12
		T2	8	0.67 <u>+</u> 0.89	1.78	-0.7

	T2-T1	8	-0.39 <u>+</u> 0.50	0.25	-1.16
DB-M1	T1	8	2.00 <u>+</u> 0.98	3.38	0.83
	T2	8	1.73 <u>+</u> 0.87	2.76	0.64
	T2-T1	8	-0.27 <u>+</u> 0.25	0.06	-0.63

Table 16. Matched-paired t-test comparing T1 and T2 mean buccal bone thickness (mm) for P1, MB-M1, and DB-M1 on the right and left sides.

			Ν	Mean <u>+</u> SD	Mean Diff	P-value	Sig Diff
					<u>+</u> SD		
Right	P1	T1	7	1.05 <u>+</u> 0.60	-0.54 <u>+</u> 0.53	0.04	*
		T2	7	0.51 <u>+</u> 0.74			
	MB-M1	T1	7	1.14 <u>+</u> 0.69	-0.60 <u>+</u> 0.46	0.01	*
		T2	7	0.54 <u>+</u> 0.83			
	DB-M1	T1	7	1.88 <u>+</u> 0.83	-0.49 <u>+</u> 0.27	0.003	**
		T2	7	1.39 <u>+</u> 0.96			
Left	P1	T1	7	1.29 <u>+</u> 1.06	-0.68 <u>+</u> 0.70	0.04	*
		T2	7	0.61 <u>+</u> 0.71			
	MB-M1	T1	8	1.06 <u>+</u> 0.92	-0.39 <u>+</u> 0.50	0.07	NS
		T2	8	0.67 <u>+</u> 0.89			
	DB-M1	T1	8	2.00 <u>+</u> 0.98	-0.27 <u>+</u> 0.25	0.02	*
		T2	8	1.73 <u>+</u> 0.87			

* p < 0.05; ** p < 0.01

Craniofacial Expansion

Facial bony changes due to expansion treatment were evaluated at the zygomatic and infrazygomatic areas illustrated on superimposed three-dimensional skeletal color maps (Figure 16). Zygomatic expansion (mm) ranged from 0.44-1.05 mm on the right and 0.45-1.56 mm on the left. Infrazygomatic expansion (mm) ranged from 0.57-1.60 mm on the right and 0.45-1.56 mm on the left (Table 17). A Matched-paired t-test showed significant differences were found between the expansion at the zygomatic and infrazygomatic area respectively on the left and ride sides (p < 0.05) (Table 18).

Table 17. Average right and left zygomatic and infrazygomatic expansion (mm) measured at T1 and T2 from three-dimensional superimposition color maps in Figure 12.

	Position	Ν	Mean <u>+</u> SD	Max	Min
Right	Zygomatic	8	0.73 <u>+</u> 0.24	1.05	0.44
	Infrazygomatic	8	1.13 <u>+</u> 0.38	1.60	0.57
Left	Zygomatic	8	0.93 <u>+</u> 0.36	1.56	0.45
	Infrazygomatic	8	1.35 <u>+</u> 0.32	1.78	0.95

Table 18. Matched-paired t-test comparing the changes of respective right and left zygomatic and infrazygomatic expansion (mm)

	Position	Ν	Mean <u>+</u> SD	Mean Diff <u>+</u> SD	P-value	Significant Difference
Right	Zygomatic	8	0.73 <u>+</u> 0.24	0.04 <u>+</u> 0.14	0.013	*
	Infrazygomatic	8	1.13 <u>+</u> 0.38			
Left	Zygomatic	8	0.93 <u>+</u> 0.36	0.42 <u>+</u> 0.04	0.00033	***
	Infrazygomatic	8	1.35 <u>+</u> 0.32			

* p < 0.05, ** p < 0.01, *** p < 0.001

Original data collected for all tested variables are listed in Appendix A.



Figure 15. Three-dimensional skeletal color maps of superimpositions of T2 over T1 registered at the anterior cranial base with a scale of -4 to +4 mm. Red represents outward displacement of T2 relative to T1. Blue represents inward displacement of T2 relative to T1.

DISCUSSION

Microimplant-assisted rapid palatal expansion (MARPE) has recently been offered to adult patients as a treatment option for correcting maxillary transverse discrepancy. However, there is limited information on the effects of this newer expansion technique specifically in skeletally matured patients in the orthodontic literature. Existing studies have discussed treatment outcomes of MARPE in samples described by their chronological age without information on their skeletal or midpalatal suture maturation. It is generally known that chronological age is not a precise index in predicting skeletal maturation⁵⁸ and there is tremendous variability in the developmental stages of the midpalatal suture relative to chronological age.⁷ While some authors noted fusion of the median palatal suture between ages 15 to 19 years old^{19, 78, 89}, others reported a lack of fusion in this suture at age 32,⁸⁹ 54,⁶² and 71⁶³. Histological data suggested that patients who show an advanced stage of skeletal maturation at the midpalatal suture may have difficulty undergoing conventional maxillary expansion due to synostoses and numerous bony bridge formations across the suture.^{11, 78} In a recent investigation by Jang⁵⁸ et al, they found that the Cervical Vertebral Maturation (CVM) method have strong correlations and high associations with the maturation stage of the midpalatal suture on CBCT images. This means that the CVM method may be used to speculate on the maturation of the midpalatal suture according to its morphology and is a more useful index than either chronological or dental age.⁵⁸

Maxillary transverse growth spurt and growth completion, has been shown to follow distance and velocity curves similar to those for body height by implant studies.^{10, 19} The maturation of the cervical vertebrae, as assessed by the CVM method, has been considered a reliable biological indicator for skeletal maturity.^{10, 11} Peak in mandibular growth has been reported to occur between cervical stage 3 and stage 4 (CS3 and CS4).^{10, 11} An individual

presenting with CS4 is identified to have surpassed the peak in mandibular growth 1 or 2 years before this stage.^{10, 11} It has been demonstrated that rapid maxillary expansion during or after the peak would induce more pronounced dentoalveolar than skeletal effects.^{10, 11} Jang ⁵⁸ et al suggested that nonsurgical maxillary expansion may be recommended before stage 3 in CVM, and a surgical approach may be considered in later CVM stages.⁵⁸ In order to understand the effectiveness of MARPE relative to treatment timing, outcomes of orthopedic expansion of the maxilla need to be evaluated with respect to skeletal maturation.

Orthodontic investigators have increased the use of cone-beam computed tomography (CBCT) due to the limitations of conventional 2-dimensional (2D) assessment. Factors such as superimposition of anatomic structures and difficulty in landmarks identification and head position reproducibility render 2D radiologic methods inadequate in evaluating the skeletal, dental, and periodontal effects of treatments.⁴¹ It has been shown that CBCT imaging, with adequate resolution, can overcome these limitations and enable accurate quantitative of a target area with no distortion, such as alveolar bone thicknesses.^{41, 71} Therefore, the main objective of this retrospective, pilot study was to evaluate the skeletal, dentoalveolar, and periodontal responses of MARPE immediately at the end of the active expansion phase in skeletally matured patients, as assessed by the CVM method¹¹, using CBCT imaging.

Skeletal Expansion

Midpalatal Suture Separation

The total expansion achieved with an expansion appliance is a combination between skeletal (orthopedic) expansion and dentoalveolar (orthodontic) expansion.³⁶ Skeletal expansion refers to the direct separation of the maxillary halves at the midpalatal suture.⁴⁹ Dentoalveolar

expansion refers to the buccal alveolar bone bending and dental tipping beyond sutural expansion that resulted from the expansion procedure.³⁶ In this study, total expansion and its components were evaluated at the first molar area.

Data of the current study shows that micro-implant assisted rapid palatal expansion (MARPE) is effective at separating the midpalatal suture and correcting maxillary transverse discrepancies in nongrowing patients. Authors of previous MARPE reports also agree with this finding; ^{22, 26, 69} but it should be noted that their classification of an adult patient was based on chronological age. All subjects demonstrated successful maxillary expansion, evident by the opening of the midpalatal suture. The average total expansion (Δ IMW) and sutural transverse expansion at the first molar, measured immediately at the completion of appliance activation, was 6.26 ± 1.31 mm and 2.55 ± 0.71 mm respectively. This indicated that 41% of skeletal expansion and 59% of dentoalveolar expansion contributed to the total expansion observed at the first molar. Other reports have also found that sutural expansion is approximately less than or equal to 50% of total expansion.^{36, 66} However, in these studies, the authors used conventional appliances to expand the maxilla in younger patients.^{36,66} Garrett³⁶ et al found sutural separation accounted for 38% of total expansion at the first molar in their patients (mean age 13.8 years) using the hyrax expander.³⁶ Generally, it is believed that expansion therapy applied before the pubertal growth peak would contribute to more significant skeletal separation of both maxillary and circummaxillary structures.⁸³ Compared to the results of previous reports on the use of conventional RPE in younger patients, this study have demonstrated that MARPE is effective at providing skeletal widening of the maxilla in post-pubertal patients.

Skeletal anchorage is believed to apply higher forces directly to the maxillary bone⁴⁰ and localize lateral forces to the midpalatal suture.²² If bone-anchored instead of traditional

52

expanders were used in a young patient population with growth potential, a larger amount of sutural expansion may be observed. This suggestion was supported by other authors who found bone-borne expanders produced greater orthopedic changes and additionally fewer dentoalveolar tipping than tooth-borne maxillary expanders.^{71, 83} Additionally, Blais et al⁴⁰ noted bonded RPE and bone-anchored RPE accounted for 41% and 65% of mean maxillary basal expansion relative to mean screw expansion respectively in patients ranging between age 11.3-17 years old. The authors explained that the large expansion percentage difference was due to the direct effects that bone-anchored RPE had on the palate rather than the surrounding maxillary molars.⁴⁰.

In this study, the percent of greatest mean palatal expansion associated with mean screw expansion was 52%, which was less than the results reported by Blais et al.⁴⁰ However. it should be noted that patients in this study were all skeletally matured according to the CVM method¹¹ and a mean age of 21.9 ± 9.73 years. Based on these factors, achieving maxillary skeletal expansion without surgical assistance in these type of patients was traditionally thought to be impossible or would result in serious problems.^{37, 64, 98} Furthermore, the amount of skeletal expansion found in this study was similar to an investigation by Chamberlain and Proffit²⁴ who reported approximately 46% of skeletal expansion was achieved immediately after SARPE with tooth borne devices in patients ranging from age 15-54 years old.²⁴ In this study, both the pterygoid junction and the midpalatal suture between the incisor roots were separated,²⁴ which was an advantage over the current study with regards to achieving greater skeletal expansion. However, measurements were made from posteroanterior cephalograms²⁴, which makes accurate comparison with this study difficult. Compared to previously reported skeletal expansion achieved from SARPE in adolescent and adult patients, MARPE may be considered highly effective in achieving non-surgical maxillary expansion in skeletally matured patients.

The pattern of midpalatal suture separation observed with MARPE in this study was parallel on average, in both the coronal and frontal perspective. The amount of suture opening at the canine, first premolar, second premolar, and first molar area differed from each other by no more than 0.47 + 0.17 mm and was shown to be nonsignificant. This indicated that sutural expansion at the level of the palate was rather uniform throughout its length anteroposteriorly, which agrees with findings of other previous authors.^{22, 70} However, Lin et al.⁷¹ demonstrated midpalatal suture opening occurred in a triangular pattern superoinferiorly, with the least increase at the nasal floor and the greatest increase at the hard palate (n = 15; age = 18.1 + 4.4years). The contrasting findings may be due to the different amounts of appliance activation performed in each study. Subjects received greater than 7 mm of activation in the study by Lin et al^{70} while the appliance was activated less than 7 mm (mean = 5.61 + 1.19 mm) in the present study. Although microimplants were placed on the palatal slopes, which has been shown to minimally rotate the dentoalveolar units,⁶⁸ the larger amount of maxillary expansion attempted by Lin et al.⁷⁰ may inevitably cause the maxillary halves to tip further away from the fulcrum of rotation located close to the frontomaxillary suture.³⁹

Nevertheless, some patients individually demonstrated a slight V-shaped expansion pattern in this study, with the base facing anteriorly or towards the oral cavity in the coronal and frontal view respectively. Variations in the suture opening pattern may be due to differences in the appliance being placed more anteriorly, on the inclines of the anterior palate distal to the second or third rugae, versus posteriorly, on the flat surface of the palate 1 mm anterior to the soft palate approximating at the level of the permanent first molar. It has been reported that posterior positioning of the expander device may allow for application of lateral forces against the pterygomaxillary buttress bone, which would allow for more parallel separation of the maxillary halves during expansion.²² On the other hand, anterior positioning of the microimplant supported expander appliance may provide a force distribution similar to the four-point hyrax appliance.⁷⁰

Upper Facial Bony Displacement

In this study, lateral widening of the upper facial bony structures, namely at the zygomatic and infrazygomatic areas as well as the nasal floor, was also noted following immediate end of appliance activation. Superimposed three-dimensional skeletal colors maps showed there was significantly greater expansion at the infrazygomatic area than the zygomatic area, which was 2.48 ± 0.7 mm and 1.66 ± 0.6 mm respectively. The difference in pretreatment and post-expansion treatment CBCT measurements at the nasal floor also demonstrated an increase of 2.53 ± 0.53 mm in width, which was slightly larger than the expansion achieved at the infrazygomatic area by 0.05 ± 0.17 mm. This finding agrees with other studies^{14, 22, 33, 41, 83} and may support the theory that maxillary expansion increases airflow and improve nasal breathing.⁴⁴

In the frontal plane of the upper maxillofacial structures, the decreasing upward expansion effect indicated a slight triangular expansion pattern with the base at the level of the nasal floor. This observation agrees with results of previous 2D²⁶ and 3D^{22, 41} data on bone-borne expansion. It has been stated that the midpalatal suture begins to close in the mid 30s at the posterior end; however, some facial sutures including the frontozygomatic may remain open even in older age groups.⁹⁴ This makes it possible for lateral displacement of the upper craniofacial structures following expansion. The pattern of transverse craniofacial expansion may be attributed to the stress distribution that occurred along the circummaxillary sutures,

resulting in lateral rotation of the maxillary halves around the estimated center of rotation located at the frontonasal suture.⁸³

Furthermore, this study showed that expansion of the zygomatic, infrazygomatic, and nasal cavity areas amounted to 30%, 44%, and 45% of the screw expansion. In a recent systematic review conducted on patients ages 6 to 14.5 years old, it was concluded that expansion of the midpalatal suture and nasal cavity ranged from 20% to 50% and 17% to 33% of the total screw expansion respectively.⁸⁶ Compared to the results reported in these younger patients, the data obtained in the current study indicate that effective expansion was achieved with MARPE in nongrowing patients. This observation agrees with Carlson et al²² who found notable expansion at the zygoma and the maxilla accounted for 38% to 61% of the screw expansion respectively. Expansion of the upper craniofacial structures have been considered signs of successful orthopedic correction since the reason for failures of nonsurgically assisted RPE have been related to facial skeletal rigidity.^{15, 22}

Dentoalveolar Expansion

Alveolar Bone Bending and Dental Tipping

Buccal bending or tipping of the alveolar process is a common finding of maxillary expansion with an expander device. ^{36, 41, 70, 83} It has been described as any additional palatal alveolar plate expansion beyond that of sutural separation.³⁶ In this study, the expansion of the palatal cortical plates (Δ PMW) beyond that of the suture opening at the first molars was 0.73 ± 0.04 mm, which accounted for 12% of total expansion. This indicated the remaining fraction of total expansion derived from dental tipping was 47% at the first molar (2.98 ± 0.56 mm). Similarly, Garrett et al³⁶ found alveolar bending and dental tipping contributed 13% (0.84 mm) and 49% (3.27mm) to total expansion at the first molar respectively with the hyrax appliance in patients with a mean age of 13.8 years.³⁶ Contrary to the belief that nonsurgical expansion in adult patients would result largely in alveolar bone bending and dental tipping,^{64, 86, 102} the results of this study have demonstrated that MARPE is effective at producing significant skeletal expansion without achieving severe dentoalveolar effects compared to conventional RPE. This interpretation is supported by other authors who observed bone-borne expansion also produced less tipping of the supporting teeth than conventional RPE in their study.^{20,71,83}

Direct measurement of angular palatal alveolar bone bending and dental tipping for anchoring teeth (first premolar and molar) was attempted by measuring along the palatal alveolar shelf and long axis of the tooth respectively. Positive differences in the palatal alveolar angle (PAA) before and immediately after MARPE for the anchoring teeth were found; however, the values did not reach statistical significance. On the other hand, significant buccal dental tipping was noted for the left first premolar and both first molars. The buccal inclination observed in the alveolar bone and teeth may be related to outward rotation of the maxillary halves during expansion as they split at the midpalatal suture, with the fulcrum at the frontomaxillary suture.^{22,} ^{41,60} In order to gain a better understanding of the dental tipping that would occur independent of alveolar bone bending, absolute dental tipping may be calculated by subtracting the change in dental inclination from the change in alveolar inclination as described by Kartalian et al.⁶⁰

In this study, absolute dental tipping was positive for the left first premolar (11.51°) and both first molars (4.96° and 4.17° for the right and left side respectively). Since the anchoring teeth were banded and rigidly fixated to the expander, the positive buccal tipping observed may be due to parallel movement of the teeth with the appliance during active expansion.⁴¹ Even though microimplants were used to deliver greater forces directly to the maxillary bone, the anchoring teeth may still be impacted due to possible tipping of the microimplants. Tipping of the microimplants may occur due to the small gap between the microimplant and the interior surfaces of the insertion slots.²² In this study, the appliance was activated 5.61 ± 0.19 mm on average over a mean span of 7.64 weeks ± 9.73 (2 weeks minimum, 12.86 weeks maximum). The measured sutural opening immediately at the end of active expansion phase in the coronal view ranged from 3.27 mm to 3.74 mm, illustrating the ratio of appliance activation to skeletal expansion is not 1:1.

As been stated by Chen et al²⁵, screws require mechanical locking for stability and force loading should occur at least 3 weeks after the placement procedure to avoid disturbing the primary healing of surrounding bone, which is a key factor for better stability. In this study, appliance activation occurred on the same day of placement. This may result in a weakened bone-implant interphase, which may cause unwanted forces to be transmitted to the teeth and subsequent dental tipping. The mechanical interdigitation of the miniscrew threads to the bone may also be compromised if the peri-microimplant tissues are inflamed due to inadequate care.²⁵ This factor was not systematically assessed for the study sample, although the need for meticulous hygiene care of the microimplants was emphasized. Other possible causes for dental tipping of the anchoring teeth may include the lack of bicortical engagement of the microimplants, poor bone density,²⁵ and over-winding of the microimplant during installation.²⁵ Reliable methods should be used to assess these factors in future studies to provide a better understanding of possible causes for dental tipping with MARPE. Furthermore, although an increase in buccal inclination of the anchoring teeth were observed, the effect may be reduced through dental decompensation with orthodontic treatment, rendering buccal tipping of the teeth minimal if not negligible.²²

The right first premolar demonstrated greater buccal inclination of the alveolar bone than the anchoring teeth as shown by an absolute dental tipping angle of -5.73°, indicating slight dental uprighting. Possible counter forces exerted by the buccal musculature at the first premolar may explain this finding.⁴¹ Another probable cause may be resorption of the palatal bone due to compressive forces on the palatal plate by the expander arms during appliance activation.^{38, 49, 80} This may lead to a greater positive change in the palatal alveolar angle that does not parallel the rotation of the maxillary halves with expansion, resulting in a negative absolute dental tipping value. The question whether palatal bone resorption did or did not occur and its permanency requires further investigation. Findings relating to the angular measurements of the palatal alveolar bone and anchoring teeth in this study should be cautiously interpreted because there was individual variability. Additionally, some CBCT scans were obscured by the image noise produced by the expander device, which made it difficult to clearly identify the palatal shelf of the anchoring teeth and may render the measurements inaccurate.

Periodontal Effects

High expansion forces may produce areas of compression on the periodontal ligament of anchoring teeth and cause alveolar bone resorption that leads to decreased buccal bone thickness.^{34, 70, 102} Following conventional RPE, authors of previous reports found significant reductions in buccal bone thickness^{34, 41} while others found no or minimal changes.^{2, 13} In this study, buccal bone thickness decreased by 0.27 mm to 0.60 mm for the first molars after expansion. This finding was less than the reduction of buccal bone thickness found by Toklu et al.⁴¹ for the first molars (approximately 0.7 mm to 1.2 mm) in a group of patients also treated with bone-borne expansion (mean age of 13.8 years). The difference in the results may be due the length and amount of microimplants that were used to fixate the expander device to the

palate. Toklu et al use two palatal miniscrews (1.8 X 9 mm)⁴¹ to support the appliance while four microimplants (1.5 to 1.8 X 11 mm) were used in this study sample to promote bicortical engagement of the microimplants into the palate. The bone-borne appliance design used to treat the patients of this study may be advantageous because the use of four microimplants may direct greater expansion force toward the mipalatal suture and other resistant areas (i.e. pterygomaxillary buttress bone) and away from the anchoring teeth.^{22, 68} However, analysis of buccal bone thickness were performed using CBCT scans taken 3 months after the end of expansion retention in the study by Toklu et al.⁴¹. The additional three months post-expansion may allow for greater buccal bone remodeling and therefore, greater reductions in buccal bone reduction may be observed compared to the current study. Carlson et al.²² also used four similar microimplants to support their bone-borne expansion device and had found thinning of the buccal plates at the maxillary first molar. However, the authors reported there was still bone coverage over the roots after expansion.²²

The buccal alveolar bone thickness of the right and left first premolars decreased by 0.54 and 0.68 mm on average respectively in this study. The finding was slightly greater than some earlier bone-anchored expansion studies⁴¹, which may be due to the use of the first premolars as additional support for the bone-borne device in some patients in the current study. Toklu et al.⁴¹ explained the buccal periodontal support of the first premolars remained unchanged for their study because the bone-borne expander was attached to the palatal miniscrews instead of the first premolars. Other authors also showed the alveolar crest level was maintained³⁴ or the reduction was not clinically important⁷⁰ for teeth that were not used for appliance anchorage. However, these subjects were younger than those treated in the current study and may have potentially be in earlier CVM stages where maxillary expansion is less difficult to achieve.

Although thinning of the buccal alveolar bone in regions of the anchoring teeth was found to be statistically significant, the periodontal effect may be reduced overtime. A partial recovery of bone levels has been observed with uprighting of the teeth supporting the expansion device using fixed appliance therapy.² Some authors found the reduction in buccal bone thickness recovers after 3 months⁹⁶, 6 months¹³ and even 2 years² following expansion. Evidence has demonstrated that lingual tooth movement leads to coronal bone apposition on the buccal alveolar crest⁹⁹; therefore, overcorrection of maxillary constriction during expansion may facilitate buccal bone regeneration by allowing for uprighting of anchoring teeth with fixed appliaces.³⁴ Due to the possibility for supporting teeth to move buccally with expansion and undergo adverse periodontal changes, clinicians should consider reduction of buccal bone thickness to be a potentially important negative consequence of expansion.³⁴ Patients with thin bone plates and keratinized mucosa are at higher risk for bone dehiscence and gingival recession following expansion; however, recessions are triggered only by mechanical tooth brushing trauma or plaque-induced inflammation.³⁴ Perhaps in patients with unfavorable periodontium who requires severe maxillary transverse correction are better suited for bone-borne surgically assisted rapid palatal expansion. Currently, there are no specific guidelines in the literature that clearly define the type of patients that are better candidates for MARPE vs bone-borne SARPE.

Midpalatal Suture Maturation Assessment

To have a better understanding of the effectiveness of MARPE relative to skeletal maturity, individual midpalatal suture maturation was also evaluated using the novel classification method proposed by Angelieri et al.⁶ Most of the subjects in this study had partially or completely fused midpalatal sutures (stage D or E) as listed in Table 3. It was suggested that conventional approaches of rapid maxillary expansion in these types of patients

may result in large unfavorable dental and periodontal effects particularly in the molar region, even though an anterior diastema could be observed, due to difficulty of opening the suture.⁶ Based on the dentoalveolar and periodontal results of the current study, MARPE have shown to be a clinically acceptable nonsurgical treatment modality for maxillary constriction in skeletally matured patients. However, it should be kept in mind that the rigidity of the midpalatal suture is only one factor that resists maxillary expansion; other areas of resistance to expansion include the zygomatic buttress and the pterygopalatine junction.⁷⁰

CHAPTER 6: SUMMARY AND CONCLUSIONS

- 1. Midpalatal suture separated in 100% of subjects with no dislodged microimplant
- Contribution to total expansion include 41% skeletal, 12% alveolar bone bending, and 48% dental tipping
- 3. Pattern of midpalatal suture opening was parallel in both coronal and axial view
- Absolute dental tipping ranged from 4.17° to 4.96° on average, which may be clinically in significant and improved with orthodontic uprighting
- 5. Reduction in buccal bone thickness (0.27 mm to 0.68 mm) shown to be statistically significant but may recover overtime with orthodontic uprighting

These findings suggest that MARPE can be a clinically acceptable, nonsurgical treatment option for correcting mild to moderate maxillary transverse discrepancies, less than 7 mm, in skeletally matured adult patients. However, the current study has some limitations: the small sample size and the short-term follow up. Additionally, this study was compared with other studies that differed in various aspects including but not limited to differences in expansion appliance design, activation protocol, methods of evaluating expansion effects, and sample size and biological variability.

CHAPTER 7: RECOMMENDATIONS FOR FUTURE RESEARCH

The clinically relevant findings of this study warrant future research in this area. This study should be repeated with a larger sample size and standardized for the following, including but not limited to:

- 1. Appliance placement anteroposteiorly along the palate
- 2. Number of teeth selected for appliance anchorage
- 3. The number of micro-implants used for appliance fixation
- 4. The amount of required maxillary expansion
- 5. CVM stage or midpalatal suture maturation stage or both

Additionally, reliable assessment methods should be established for assessment of microimplant stability in terms of mobility detection in order to evaluate if skeletal anchorage has been compromised during active expansion. Long-term evaluations of the sample should also be conducted to gain an understanding of the permanency of the dentoalveolar and periodontal effects of MARPE and the relapse potential of this novel technique in nongrowing patients.
REFERENCES

 Adkins MD, Nanda RS, Currier GF. Arch perimeter changes on rapid palatal expansion. American Journal of Orthodontics & Dentofacial Orthopedics. 1990;97(3):194-9. Available from: http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/088954069070093R.

2. Akyalcin S, Schaefer JS, English JD, Stephens CR, Winkelmann S. A cone-beam computed tomography evaluation of buccal bone thickness following maxillary expansion. Imaging Science in Dentistry. 2013 Jun 1,;43(2):85-90. Available from:

http://synapse.koreamed.org/search.php?where=aview&id=10.5624/isd.2013.43.2.85&code=2080ISD&v mode=FULL.

Alpern MC, Yurosko JJ. Rapid palatal expansion in adults with and without surgery. Angle Orthod.
 1987 July;57(3):245-63.

4. Alpiner ML, Beaver HA. Criteria for rapid maxillary expansion. J Mich State Dent Assoc. 1971;53(2):39-42.

5. Andrew J. Haas, D.D.S., MS. Ctiyahoga F, Ohio. Palata, l expansion: Just the beginning of dentofacial orthopedics. AM J Orthod. 1970;57:219-55.

 Angelieri F, Cevidanes LH, Franchi L, Goncalves JR, Benavides E, McNamara JA, Jr. Midpalatal suture maturation: classification method for individual assessment before rapid maxillary expansion. Am J Orthod Dentofacial Orthop. 2013 November;144(5):759-69.

7. Angelieri F, Franchi L, Cevidanes LH, McNamara JA,Jr. Diagnostic performance of skeletal maturity for the assessment of midpalatal suture maturation. Am J Orthod Dentofacial Orthop. 2015 December;148(6):1010-6.

8. Angell E. Treatment of irregularities of the permanent or adult teeth. Dental Cosmos. 1860(1):540-4.

9. Babacan H, Doruk C, Uysal IO, Yuce S. Effects of rapid maxillary expansion on nasal mucociliary clearance. The Angle Orthodontist. 2015 July 1, [cited August 11, 2016];86(2):250-4. Available from: http://www.angle.org/doi/abs/10.2319/121714-918.1.

Baccetti T, Franchi L, Cameron C, McNamara J. Treatment Timing for Rapid Maxillary Expansion.
 Angle Orthodontist. 2001;71(5):343-50.

11. Baccetti T, Franchi L, McNamara JA. The Cervical Vertebral Maturation (CVM) Method for the Assessment of Optimal Treatment Timing in Dentofacial Orthopedics. Seminars in Orthodontics.2005;11(3):119-29. Available from:

http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S1073874605000216.

12. Baccetti T, Franchi L, Cameron CG, McNamara J, J A. Treatment timing for rapid maxillary expansion. The Angle orthodontist. 2001 Oct;71(5):343. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/11605867.

13. Ballanti F, Lione R, Fanucci E, Franchi L, Baccetti T, Cozza P. Immediate and Post-Retention Effects of Rapid Maxillary Expansion Investigated by Computed Tomography in Growing Patients. The Angle Orthodontist. 2009;79(1):24-9.

14. Baratieri C, Alves M, de Souza, Margareth Maria Gomes, de Souza Araújo, Mônica Tirre, Maia LC.
Does rapid maxillary expansion have long-term effects on airway dimensions and breathing? American
Journal of Orthodontics & Dentofacial Orthopedics. 2011;140(2):146-56. Available from:
http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0889540611004513.

15. Bell WH, Epker BN. Surgical-orthodontic expansion of the maxilla. American Journal of Orthodontics. 1976 Nov;70(5):517-28. Available from:

http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/0002941676902761.

16. Belluzzo RHL, Faltin Junior K, Lascala CE, Vianna LBR. Maxillary constriction: are there differences between anterior and posterior regions? Dental Press Journal of Orthodontics. 2012 Aug 1,;17(4):1-6. Available from: <u>http://www.scielo.br/scielo.php?script=sci_arttext&pid=S2176-</u> 94512012000400009.

17. Belluzzo RHL, Faltin Junior K, Lascala CE, Vianna LBR. Maxillary constriction: are there differences between anterior and posterior regions? Dental Press Journal of Orthodontics. 2012 Aug 1,;17(4):1-6. Available from: <u>http://www.scielo.br/scielo.php?script=sci_arttext&pid=S2176-</u>94512012000400009.

 Bishara SE, Staley R. Maxillary expansion: clinical implications. Am J Orthod Dentofacial Orthop. 1987;91(1):3-14.

19. Björk A, Skieller V. Growth in Width of the Maxilla Studied by the Implant Method. Scandinavian Journal of Plastic and Reconstructive Surgery and Hand Surgery. 1974;8(1-2):26-33.

20. Blasi I, Vanarsdall RL. Rapid Maxillary Expansion with Skeletal Anchorage vs Bonded Tooth/Tissue Born Expanders. A Comparison Utilizing CBCT.

[dissertation]. University of Pennsylvania; 2012.

21. Capelozza Filho L, Cardoso Neto J, da Silva Filho, O G, Ursi WJ. Non-surgically assisted rapid maxillary expansion in adults. The International journal of adult orthodontics and orthognathic surgery. 1996;11(1):57-66. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/9046628.

22. Carlson C, Sung J, McComb RW, Machado AW, Moon W. Microimplant-assisted rapid palatal expansion appliance to orthopedically correct transverse maxillary deficiency in an adult. American Journal of Orthodontics & Dentofacial Orthopedics. 2016 May;149(5):716-28. Available from: http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0889540616000792.

23. Castañer-Peiro A. Interceptive orthodontics: the need for early diagnosis and treatment of posterior crossbites. Medicina oral, patología oral y cirugía bucal. 2006;11(2):210-4.

24. Chamberland S, Proffit WR. Short-term and long-term stability of surgically assisted rapid palatal expansion revisited. American Journal of Orthodontics & Dentofacial Orthopedics. 2011;139(6):822.e1. Available from: http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0889540611003751.

25. Chen YJ, Chang HH, Lin HY, Lai EH, Hung HC,Yao CC,. Stability of miniplates and miniscrews used for orthodontic anchorage: experience with 492 temporary anchorage devices. Clin Oral Implants Res. 2008;19(11):1188-96.

26. Choi S, Shi K, Cha J, Park Y, Lee K. Nonsurgical miniscrew-assisted rapid maxillary expansion results in acceptable stability in young adults. The Angle orthodontist. 2016 Sep;86(5):713-20. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/26938955.

27. Chung C, Font B. Skeletal and dental changes in the sagittal, vertical, and transverse dimensions after rapid palatal expansion. American Journal of Orthodontics and Dentofacial Orthopedics. 2004;126(5):569-75. Available from:

http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0889540604005992.

28. Cohen MM,Jr. Sutural biology and the correlates of craniosynostosis. Am J Med Genet. 1993 Oct 1;47(5):581-616.

29. da Silva Filho, Omar Gabriel, Santamaria Jr M, Filho LC. Epidemiology of posterior crossbite in the primary dentition. J Clin Pediatr Dent. 2007;32(1):73-8.

30. da Silva Filho, Omar Gabriel, Santamaria J, Milton, Capelozza Filho L. Epidemiology of posterior crossbite in the primary dentition. The Journal of clinical pediatric dentistry. 2007;32(1):73-8. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/18274476.

31. Daboul A, Schwahn C, Schaffner G, Soehnel S, Samietz S, Aljaghsi A, et al. Reproducibility of
Frankfort horizontal plane on 3D multi-planar reconstructed MR images. PloS one. 2012;7(10):e48281.
Available from: <u>http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/23118970</u>.

32. Epker BN, Wolford LM. Transverse maxillary deficiency dentofacial deformities: integrated orthodontic and surgical correction

. Anonymous St Louis: Mosby; 1980.

33. Fastuca R, Perinetti G, Zecca PA, Nucera R, Caprioglio A. Airway compartments volume and oxygen saturation changes after rapid maxillary expansion: A longitudinal correlation study. The Angle

Orthodontist. 2015 February 9, [cited August 11, 2016]. Available from: http://www.angle.org/doi/abs/10.2319/072014.1.

34. Garib DG, Henriques JF, Janson G, de Freitas MR, Fernandes AY. Periodontal effects of rapid maxillary expansion with tooth-tissue-borne and tooth-borne expanders: a computed tomography evaluation. Am J Orthod Dentofacial Orthop. 2006;129(6):749-58.

35. Garib DG, Henriques JFC, Janson G, Freitas MR, Coelho RA. Rapid maxillary expansion--tooth tissue-borne versus tooth-borne expanders: a computed tomography evaluation of dentoskeletal effects. The Angle orthodontist. 2005 Jul;75(4):548. Available from:

http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/16097223.

36. Garrett BJ, Caruso JM, Rungcharassaeng K, Farrage JR, Kim JS, Taylor GD. Skeletal effects to the maxilla after rapid maxillary expansion assessed with cone-beam computed tomography. Am J Orthod Dentofacial Orthop. 2008;134(1):8.e11.

37. Gauthier C, Voyer R, Paquette M, Rompre P, Papadakis A. Periodontal effects of surgically assisted rapid palatal expansion evaluated clinically and with cone-beam computerized tomography: 6-month preliminary results. Am J Orthod Dentofacial Orthop. 2011;139(4):117.

38. Geramy A SA. Fixed versus Removable Appliance for Palatal Expansion; A 3D Analysis Using the Finite Element Method. Journal of dentistry (Tehran, Iran). 2014;11(1):75-84.

 Gerson Luiz Ulema Ribeiro, Arno Locks, Juliana Pereira, Maurício Brunetto. Analysis of rapid maxillary expansion using Cone-Beam computed tomography. Dental Press Journal of Orthodontics.
 2010 Dec 1,;15(6):107-12. Available from: <u>https://doaj.org/article/47f0d62450474776b2efc8baf01f5e52</u>.

40. Graber LW, Vanarsdall RL, Jr, Vig KWL, Huang GJ. Orthodontics : Current Principles and Techniques. 6th ed. Anonymous St Louis: Mosby; 2016.

41. Gunyuz Toklu M, Germec-Cakan D, Tozlu M. Periodontal, dentoalveolar, and skeletal effects of tooth-borne and tooth-bone-borne expansion appliances. American journal of orthodontics and dentofacial orthopedics : official publication of the American Association of Orthodontists, its constituent societies, and the American Board of Orthodontics. 2015 Jul;148(1):97-109. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/26124033.

42. Haas Tx of MTD By Opening Midpalatal Suture.

43. Haas AJ. Long-Term Posttreatment Evaluation of Rapid Palatal Expansion. The Angle Orthodontist.
1980 July 1, [cited August 11, 2016];50(3):189-217. Available from: http://www.angle.org/doi/abs/10.1043/0003-3219(1980)050%3C0189:LPEORP%3E2.0.CO%3B2.

44. Haas AJ. Rapid expansion of the maxillary dental arch and nasal cavity by opening the midpalatal suture

. Angle Orthod. 1961;47:186-92.

45. HAAS AJ. The treatment of maxillary deficiency byopening the midpalatal suture. The Angle orthodontist. 1965;35:200-16. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/14331020.

46. Haas AJ. Palatal expansion: Just the beginning of dentofacial orthopedics. American Journal of Orthodontics. 1970 [cited August 12, 2016];57(3):219-55.

47. Haas AJ. Palatal expansion: Just the beginning of dentofacial orthopedics. American Journal of Orthodontics. 1970 [cited August 12, 2016];57(3):219-55. Available from: /article/0002-9416(70)90241-1/abstract.

48. Haas AJ. The Treatment Of Maxillary Deficiency By Opening The Midpalatal Suture. The Angle Orthodontist. 1965 July 1, [cited August 13, 2016];35(3):200-17.

49. Handelman CS. Nonsurgical rapid maxillary alveolar expansion in adults: a clinical evaluation. The Angle orthodontist. 1997;67(4):291-305. Available from: <u>http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/9267578</u>.

50. Handelman CS, Wang L, BeGole EA, Haas AJ. Nonsurgical rapid maxillary expansion in adults: report on 47 cases using the Haas expander. The Angle orthodontist. 2000 Apr;70(2):129-44. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/10833001.

51. Hegde V. Significance of the Frankfort mandibular plane angle in prosthetic management of partially or completely edentulous patients with Class II malocclusions. J Indian Prosthodont Soc The Journal of Indian Prosthodontic Society. 2005;5(4):175.

52. Hesby RM, Marshall SD, Dawson DV, Southard KA, Southard TE, Casko JS, et al. Transverse skeletal and dentoalveolar changes during growth. American Journal of Orthodontics & Dentofacial Orthopedics. 2006;130(6):721-31. Available from:

http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0889540606010389.

53. Hicks EP. Slow maxillary expansion: A clinical study of the skeletal vs dental response to low magnitude force. AM J Orthod. 1978;73(2):121-41.

54. Hsu BS. The nature of arch width difference and palatal depth of the anterior open bite. American Journal of Orthodontics and Dentofacial Orthopedics. 1998 March;113(3):344-50.

55. Huang, Greg J.,, Richmond, Stephen,, Vig,Katherine W.L.,,. Evidence-based orthodontics. Anonymous Chichester, West Sussex, UK: Wiley-Blackwell; 2011.

56. Inoue N, Oyama K, Ishiquro K, Azuma M, Ozaki T. Radiographic observation of rapid expansion of human maxilla. Bull Tokyo Med Dent Univ. 1970;17(3):249-61.

57. Isaacson RJ, Wood JL, Ingram AH. Forces produced by rapid maxillary expansion. Angle Orthod. 1964;34:256-70.

58. Jang H, Kim S, Chae J, Kang K, Cho J, Chang N, et al. Relationship between maturation indices and morphology of the midpalatal suture obtained using cone-beam computed tomography images. The Korean Journal of Orthodontics. 2016;46(6):345.

59. Kapila S. Cone beam computed tomography in orthodontics: indications, insights, and innovations. Anonymous ; 2014.

60. Kartalian A, Gohl E, Adamian M, Enciso R. Cone-beam computerized tomography evaluation of the maxillary dentoskeletal complex after rapid palatal expansion. American Journal of Orthodontics & Dentofacial Orthopedics. 2010;138(4):486-92. Available from:

http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0889540610005305.

61. Kartalian A, Elizabeth G, Adamian M, Enciso R. Cone-beam computerized tomography evaluation of the maxillary dentoskeletal complex after rapid palatal expansion. American Journal of Orthodontics and Dentofacial Orthopedics. 2010;138(r):486-92.

62. Knaup B, Yildizhan F, Wehrbein H. Age-related changes in the midpalatal suture. A histomorphometric study. J Orofac Orthop. 2004 Nov;65(6):467-74.

63. Korbmacher H, Schilling A, Puschel K, Amling M, Kahl-Nieke B. Age-dependent three-dimensional microcomputed tomography analysis of the human midpalatal suture. J Orofac Orthop. 2007 Sep;68(5):364-76.

64. Koudstaal MJ, Poort LJ, van der Wal, K G, Wolvius EB, Prahl-Andersen B, Schulten AJ. Surgically assisted rapid maxillary expansion (SARME): a review of the literature. Int J Oral Maxillofac Surg. 2005 October;34(7):709-14.

65. Kraut RA. Surgically assisted rapid maxillary expansion by opening the mid-palatal suture . J Oral Maxillofac Surg. 1984;42(10):651-5.

66. Krebs A. Midpalatal suture expansion studied by the implant method over a seven year period . Trans Eur Ortho Soc. 1964;40:131-42.

67. Lagravère MO, Major PW, Flores-Mir C. Dental and skeletal changes following surgically assisted rapid maxillary expansion. International Journal of Oral & Maxillofacial Surgery. 2006;35(6):481-7. Available from: <u>http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0901502706000920</u>.

68. Lee HK, Bayome M, Ahn CS, Kim S, Kim KB, Mo S, et al. Stress distribution and displacement by different bone-borne palatal expanders with micro-implants: a three-dimensional finite-element analysis. European journal of orthodontics. 2014 Oct;36(5):531-40. Available from:

http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/23148112.

69. Lee K, Park Y, Park J, Hwang W. Miniscrew-assisted nonsurgical palatal expansion before orthognathic surgery for a patient with severe mandibular prognathism. American Journal of Orthodontics and Dentofacial Orthopedics. 2010;137(6):830-9. Available from:

http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.ajodo.2007.10.065.

70. Lin L, Ahn H, Kim S, Moon S, Kim S, Nelson G. Tooth-borne vs bone-borne rapid maxillary expanders in late adolescence. The Angle orthodontist. 2015 Mar;85(2):253-62. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/25490552.

71. Lin L, Ahn H, Kim S, Moon S, Kim S, Nelson G. Tooth-borne vs bone-borne rapid maxillary expanders in late adolescence. The Angle orthodontist. 2015 Mar;85(2):253-62. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/25490552. 72. Lines PA. Adult rapid maxillary expansion with corticotomy. American Journal of Orthodontics. 1975 Jan;67(1):44-56. Available from: <u>http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/0002941675901281</u>.

73. MacGinnis M, Chu H, Youssef G, Wu KW, Machado AW, Moon W. The effects of micro-implant assisted rapid palatal expansion (MARPE) on the nasomaxillary complex—a finite element method (FEM) analysis. Prog Orthod. 2014 August 29, [cited August 11, 2016];15(1). Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC4148550/.

74. Marshall S, Dawson D, Southard KA, Lee AN, Casko JS,Southard TE,. Transverse molar movements during growth. Am J Orthod Dentofacial Orthop. 2003;124(6):615-24.

75. McNamara JA. Maxillary transverse deficiency. American Journal of Orthodontics & Dentofacial Orthopedics. 2000;117(5):567-70. Available from:

http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0889540600702022.

76. McNamara JA. Maxillary transverse deficiency. American Journal of Orthodontics & Dentofacial Orthopedics. 2000;117(5):567-70. Available from:

http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0889540600702022.

77. Mehra P, Cottrell DA, Caiazzo A, Lincoln R. Life-threatening, delayed epistaxis after surgically assisted rapid palatal expansion: A case report. Journal of Oral and Maxillofacial Surgery.
1999;57(2):201-4. Available from:

http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0278239199902410.

78. Melsen B. Palatal growth studied on human autopsy material. American Journal of Orthodontics.
1975;68(1):42-54. Available from: <u>http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/000294167590158X</u>.

79. Mommaerts MY. Transpalatal distraction as a method of maxillary expansion. British Journal of Oral & Maxillofacial Surgery. 1999;37(4):268-72. Available from:

http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0266435699901274.

80. Mori S, Sato T, Hara T, Nakashima K, Minagi S, Effect of continuous pressure on histopathological changes in denture-supporting tissues. J Oral Rehabil. 1997;24(1):37-46.

81. Mosleh MI, Kaddah MA, Abd ElSayed FA, ElSayed HS. Comparison of transverse changes during maxillary expansion with 4-point bone-borne and tooth-borne maxillary expanders. American Journal of Orthodontics and Dentofacial Orthopedics. 2015;148(4):599-607. Available from: http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0889540615007775.

82. Mosleh MI, Kaddah MA, Abd ElSayed FA, ElSayed HS. Comparison of transverse changes during maxillary expansion with 4-point bone-borne and tooth-borne maxillary expanders. American journal of orthodontics and dentofacial orthopedics : official publication of the American Association of Orthodontists, its constituent societies, and the American Board of Orthodontics. 2015 Oct;148(4):599-607. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/26432315.

83. Mosleh MI, Kaddah MA, Abd ElSayed FA, ElSayed HS. Comparison of transverse changes during maxillary expansion with 4-point bone-borne and tooth-borne maxillary expanders. American journal of orthodontics and dentofacial orthopedics : official publication of the American Association of Orthodontists, its constituent societies, and the American Board of Orthodontics. 2015 Oct;148(4):599-607. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/26432315.

 Nanda R, Snodell SF, Bollu P. Transverse Growth of Maxilla and Mandible. Seminars in Orthodontics. 2012 Jun 1,;18(2). 85. Nguyen T, Cevidanes L, Cornelis MA, Heymann G, de Paula LK, De Clerck H. Three-dimensional assessment of maxillary changes associated with bone anchored maxillary protraction. American Journal of Orthodontics & Dentofacial Orthopedics. 2011 Dec;140(6):790-8. Available from: http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0889540611007311.

86. Northway W. Palatal expansion in adults: The surgical approach. American Journal of Orthodontics & Dentofacial Orthopedics. 2011;140(4):463-9. Available from:

http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0889540611006822.

87. Oliveira De Felippe, Nanci Lara, Da Silveira AC, Viana G, Kusnoto B, Smith B, Evans CA.
Relationship between rapid maxillary expansion and nasal cavity size and airway resistance: short- and long-term effects. Am J Orthod Dentofacial Orthop. 2008 September [cited August 11, 2016];134(3):37082.

88. Park JU, Kook Y, Kim Y. Assessment of asymmetry in a normal occlusion sample and asymmetric patients with three-dimensional cone beam computed tomography: a study for a transverse reference plane. The Angle orthodontist. 2012 Sep;82(5):860. Available from:

http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/22356706.

89. Persson M, Thilander B. Palatal suture closing in man from 15-35 years of ageAm J Orthod. 1977;72:42-52.

90. Pogrel MA, Kaban LB, Vargervik K, Baumrind S. Surgically assisted rapid maxillary expansion in adults. The International journal of adult orthodontics and orthognathic surgery. 1992;7(1):37. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/1453038.

91. Prado GPR, Furtado F, Aloise AC, Biló JPR, Masako Ferreira L, Pereira MD. Stability of surgically assisted rapid palatal expansion with and without retention analyzed by 3-dimensional imaging. American

journal of orthodontics and dentofacial orthopedics : official publication of the American Association of Orthodontists, its constituent societies, and the American Board of Orthodontics. 2014 May;145(5):610-6. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/24785925.

92. Ribeiro ANC, de Paiva JB, Rino-Neto J, Illipronti-Filho E, Trivino T, Fantini SM. Upper airway expansion after rapid maxillary expansion evaluated with cone beam computed tomography. The Angle orthodontist. 2012 May;82(3):458-63. Available from: <u>http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/21999215</u>.

93. Robert A. Wertz, D.D.S., MS. Kadcakee, I. Skeletal and ckntal changes accompanying rapid midpalatal suture opening.

94. Sicher H. Oral anatomy. 4. ed. ed. Anonymous St. Louis: Mosby; 1965.

95. Smalley WM, Shapiro PA, Hohl TH, Kokich VG, Brånemark P. Osseointegrated titanium implants for maxillofacial protraction in monkeys. American Journal of Orthodontics & Dentofacial Orthopedics. 1988;94(4):285-95. Available from: <u>http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/0889540688900534</u>.

96. Starnbach H, Bayne D, Cleall J, Subtelny JD. Facioskeletal and dental changes resulting from rapid maxillary expansion. The Angle orthodontist. 1966 Apr;36(2):152. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/4956318.

97. Suri L, Taneja P. Surgically assisted rapid palatal expansion: A literature review. American Journal of Orthodontics and Dentofacial Orthopedics. 2008;133(2):290-302. Available from: http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0889540607007536.

98. Sygouros A, Motro M, Ugurlu F, Acar A. Surgically assisted rapid maxillary expansion: cone-beam computed tomography evaluation of different surgical techniques and their effects on the maxillary dentoskeletal complex. American journal of orthodontics and dentofacial orthopedics : official publication

of the American Association of Orthodontists, its constituent societies, and the American Board of Orthodontics. 2014 Dec;146(6):748-57. Available from: <u>http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/25432256</u>.

99. Thilander B, Nyman S, Karring T, Magnusson I. Bone regeneration in alveolar bone dehiscences related to orthodontic tooth movements. European journal of orthodontics. 1983 May;5(2):105-14. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/6574916.

100. Tollaro i, Baccetti T, Franchi L, Tanasescu CD. Role of posterior interarch discrepancy in Class II, Divsion 1 malocclusion during the mixed dentition phase. AM J Orthod Dento-facial Orthop. 1996 Oct;110(4):417-22.

101. Verstraaten J, Kuijpers-Jagtman AM, Mommaerts MY, Bergé SJ, Nada RM, Schols JGJH. A systematic review of the effects of bone-borne surgical assisted rapid maxillary expansion. Journal of Cranio-Maxillofacial Surgery. 2010;38(3):166-74. Available from:

http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S1010518209001127.

102. Verstraaten J, Kuijpers-Jagtman AM, Mommaerts MY, Bergé SJ, Nada RM, Schols JGJH. A systematic review of the effects of bone-borne surgical assisted rapid maxillary expansion. Journal of Cranio-Maxillofacial Surgery. 2010;38(3):166-74. Available from:

http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S1010518209001127.

103. Wehrbein H, Yildizhan F. The mid-palatal suture in young adults. A radiological-histological investigation. Eur J Orthod. 2001 Apr;23(2):105-14.

104. Wertz RA. Skeletal and dental changes accompanying rapid midpalatal suture opening. American Journal of Orthodontics. 1970/07/01 [cited August 11, 2016];58(1):41-66. Available from: /article/0002-9416(70)90127-2/abstract.

105. Wilmes B, Nienkemper M, Drescher D. Application and effectiveness of a mini-implant- and toothborne rapid palatal expansion device: the hybrid hyrax. World journal of orthodontics. 2010;11(4):323. Available from: <u>http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/21490997</u>.

APPENDICES

APPENDIX A: IRB EXPEDITED



Approval Letter Expedited

Action Date	06/10/2016
То	Peter Ngan
From	WVU Office of Research Integrity and Compliance
Approval Date	07/06/2015
Expiration Date	06/08/2017
Subject	Protocol Approval Letter
Protocol Number	1501557557R001
Title	Retrospective Evaluation of Skeletal and Dental Changes in Adults Treated with Micro-implant Assisted Rapid Palatal Expansion (MARPE)

The above-referenced research study was reviewed by the West Virginia University Institutional Review Board IRB and was approved in accordance with 46 CFR 46.101b.

It has been determined that this study is of minimal risk and meets the criteria as defined by the expedited categories listed below:

Category 5. Research involving materials (data, documents, records, or specimens) that have been
collected, or will be collected solely for nonresearch purposes (such as medical treatment or diagnosis).

Documents reviewed and/or approved as part of this submission:

HIPAA De-Identification Form.docx: 2016-06-06-04:00

Variables Recorded for Research Purposes.docx: 2015-06-26-04:00

Bibliography.docx: 2016-05-11-04:00

IRB Scientific Rationale for Research Short Version.docx: 2016-05-11-04:00

HIPAA Waiver Form 1- Uyen.docx: 2016-05-11-04:00

Documents for use in this study are available in the WVUkc system in the Notes and Attachments section of your protocol.

The Office of Research Integrity and Compliance is here to provide assistance to you from the initial submission of an IRB protocol and all subsequent activity. Please feel free to contact us by phone at 304.293.7073 with any question you may have. Thank you.

WVU Office of Research Integrity and Compliance

Date:06/10/2016

Signed:

ila bet

Lilo Ast Senior Program Coordinator

Appendix B: Statistics <u>Raw Data</u>

For all purposes in this appendix, the following should be understood:

- Data sets refer to the entire data collection taken at different time periods. Data Set 1 and

2 were taken at least 2 weeks apart

- T1 represents pre-treatment values and T2 represents immediate post-treatment values.

Midpalatal Suture Expansion

Axial View

Table 23. Midpalatal suture separation (mm) measured in axial view at the level of the midpalate for the canine (C), first premolar (P1), second premolar (P2) and first molar (M1) positions.

]	Data Set 1	1		Data Set 2						
	T1	T2				T1		T2				
	C-M1	С	P1	P2	M1	C-M1	С	P1	P2	M1		
1	0	3.01	3.53	3	3.13	0	3.21	3.98	3.59	3.08		
2	0	3.04	4.05	3.21	3.21	0	2.56	3.2	2.72	3.36		
3	0	2.44	3.90	2.6	2.44	0	2.98	3.64	3.64	3.14		

4	0	4.61	4.07	4.07	3.23	0	4.79	4.11	4.47	3.58
5	0	4.39	3.93	4.54	3.93	0	3.42	3.91	3.91	2.93
6	0	3.78	2.32	3.19	2.91	0	2.55	2.72	2.39	2.21
7	0	4.97	4.6	4.78	4.05	0	4.42	4.94	4.31	4.05
8	0	3.26	3.3	3.11	3.3	0	3.06	3.56	3.91	3.73
Mean	0	3.69	3.71	3.56	3.28	0	3.37	3.76	3.62	3.26
SD	0	0.90	0.68	0.79	0.52	0	0.82	0.66	0.73	0.56
Max	0	4.97	4.6	4.78	4.05	0	4.79	4.94	4.47	4.05
Min	0	2.44	2.32	2.6	2.44	0	2.55	2.72	2.39	2.21

Coronal View

Table 24. Midpalatal suture separation (mm) measured in coronal cross-sectional slice through the center of M1 at the nasal floor, middle of the palate, and palatal floor.

		Data	a Set 1		Data Set 2						
	Г	`1	T	2	T	l	Г	2			
		Nasal	Middle	Palatal		Nasal	Middle	Palatal			
1	0	2.35	2.4	2.81	0	2.56	2.57	2.68			
2	0	2.39	2.31	2.48	0	3.00	3.21	2.64			
3	0	2.41	2.10	2.95	0	2.21	2.20	2.79			
4	0	3.26	2.24	2.58	0	3.26	2.29	3.26			
5	0	2.4	2.71	3.03	0	2.55	2.23	2.87			
6	0	1.65	1.93	1.93	0	1.97	2.13	2.13			
7	0	3.12	4.20	3.79	0	3.10	3.92	4.19			
8	0	1.94	1.97	2.97	0	2.15	2.31	3.21			
					·						
Mean	0	2.45	2.49	2.82	0	2.61	2.61	3.01			
SD	0	0.58	0.80	0.58	0	0.52	0.68	0.64			
Max	0	3.26	4.2	3.79	0	3.26	3.92	4.19			
Min	0	1.65	1.93	1.93	0	1.97	2.13	2.13			

Palatal Alveolar Bone Bending

Table 25. Palatal alveolar angle (degree	e) measured at T1 ar	nd T2 for first premolar	(P1) and first
molar (M1) positions.			

			Rig	ght			L	eft	
		Г	'1	Т	2	Т	'1	ſ	12
		P1	M1	P1	M1	P1	M1	P1	M1
	1	102.8		98.4		102.7	101.6	105.8	118.1
	2	116.5	100.7	130.2	96.6	115.8	100.9	118.3	109
	3	128.4	115.7	119.7	117.6	123.6	105.5	115.6	105.2
	4	107.8	111.3	116	114.5	109.3	111.5	119	105.8
_	5		112		114.7		113.8		107.4
et	6	99.1	91.9	99.8	107.1	105.1	98.1	93.8	98
aS	7	125.4	96.7	129.8	97.2	99.4	97.6	107	98.5
)at	8	112.9	106.8	142.8	114.2	130.7	111.7	115.5	119.9
Π									
	Mean	113.27	105.01	119.53	108.84	112.37	105.09	110.71	107.7375
	SD	11.01	8.81	16.38	8.76	11.53	6.50	9.10	7.99
	Max	128.40	115.70	142.80	117.60	130.70	113.80	119	119.9
	Min	99.10	91.90	98.40	96.60	99.40	97.60	93.8	98
	-								-
	1	105.5		104.2		106.6	106	102.2	113.9
	2	117.2	95.1	110.3	97.7	111.1	102.1	112.8	103.3
	3	123.1	118.1	120.3	115.2	121.6	105.8	116.7	106.5
	4	102.1	107.1	116.9	110.6	106.3	109.7	112.5	105.6
2	5		110		112.4		108.9		106.2
et	6	100.2	93.8	101.7	102.1	111.8	97.8	107.1	99
aS	7	97.3	96.9	132.3	92.6	90.1	97.3	99.5	104.5
)at	8	117.4	106.2	149.3	112.6	124.3	114.2	94.7	104.9
Π									
	Mean	108.97	103.89	119.29	106.17	110.26	105.23	106.5	105.49
	SD	10.09	8.97	16.81	8.70	11.29	5.89	8.03	4.15
	Max	123.10	118.10	149.30	115.20	124.3	114.2	116.7	113.9
	Min	97.30	93.80	101.70	92.60	90.1	97.3	94.7	99

Palatal Maxillary Width

Table 26. Palatal maxillary width (mm) measured at T1 and T2 for the first molar (M1).

T1	Τ2

1					
2	33.03	36.5			
3	32.46	35.68			
4	31.69	35.17			
5	32.21	35.29			
6	29.55	31.77			
7	27.74	32.4			
8	34.94	37.77			
Mean	31.66	34.94			
SD	2.363728	2.15			
Max	34.935	37.77			
Min	27.74	31.77			

Dental Tipping

Table 27. Dental tipping angle (degree) measured at T1 and T2 for first premolar (P1) and first molar (M1) positions.

			Rig	ght		Left					
]	[1	ſ	12	Г	C1	r	Г2		
		P1	M1	P1	M1	P1	M1	P1	M1		
	1	82.9	Х	89.3	Х	88.7	101.2	97.7	101.3		
	2	84.3	90.1	85.5	94	90.5	95.7	97.2	98.4		
	3	83.7	101.8	87.2	103.5	89.4	101.6	96.5	107		
	4	90.1	91.6	99.6	104.8	79.4	93.3	93.6	96		
_	5	Х	101	Х	111.2	Х	103.1	Х	104.1		
et	6	91.2	91	98.4	94.4	90.1	95.3	110.2	97		
aS	7	91.9	101.9	91.8	113.5	91.8	103.1	100.7	115.4		
)at	8	90.6	94.1	82.1	95.9	91.8	100.1	101.6	99.8		
Π											
	Mean	87.51	95.64	90.54	102.77	88.96	98.81	99.17	102.15		
	SD	4.39	5.10	6.53	8.09	4.35	3.71	5.81	6.25		
	Max	91.9	101.90	99.60	113.50	91.8	103.1	110.2	115.4		
	Min	81.6	90.10	82.10	94.00	79.4	93.3	93.2	96		

	1	84.8	Х	90.8	Х	88.8	98.1	100.2	112.5
	2	90	83.9	93.3	92.9	95.6	96	99.8	97.3
	3	85.5	93.9	88.5	103.6	91.4	100.1	90.7	106.1
	4	89.3	88.4	85.8	110.6	80.1	92.5	103.2	95.7
2	5	Х	102.3	Х	108.9	Х	99.4	Х	107.1
et	6	88.6	90.6	93.4	97.4	89.2	90.4	94.3	96.8
aS	7	84.9	101.1	93.9	108.7	103.7	103	102.1	107.6
)at	8	92.6	93.3	82.7	96.8	91.6	100.9	106.4	121
Ι									
	Mean	87.59	94	89.67	102.9	91.46	97.61	99.59	105.54
	SD	3.46	6.88	4.35	7.08	7.17	4.36	5.26	8.75
	Max	92.6	102.3	93.9	110.6	103.7	103	106.4	121
	Min	82.9	83.9	82.7	92.9	80.1	90.4	91.1	95.7

Intermolar Width

 Table 28. Intermolar width (mm) measured at T1 and T2 at the first molar (M1).

	T1	T2			
1					
2	41.78	47.83			
3	45.71	52.2			
4	41.03	49.78			
5	45.04	51.07			
6	38.91	44.15			
7	40.17	46.84			
8	45.71	50.3			
Mean	42.62	48.88			
SD	2.83	2.78			
Max	45.71	52.2			
Min	38.91	44.15			

Buccal Bone Thickness

Table 29. Buccal bone thickness (mm) measured at T1 and T2 for first premolar (P1), mesiobuccal root

				Ri	ght					L	eft		
			T1		_	T2			T1			T2	
			MB-	DB-		MB-	DB-		MB-	DB-		MB-	DB-
		P1	M1	M1	P1	M1	M1	P1	M1	M1	P1	M1	M1
	1	0.97	Х	X	0.7	х	Х	0.84	0.61	0.79	0.64	0.76	0.87
	2	0.14	0.39	1.2	-0.65	0	0.7	0.27	0	2.43	-0.39	-0.64	1.81
	3	0.66	0.58	0.59	-0.5	-0.97	0	0.62	0.77	0.93	0	0.98	0.28
	4	1.98	2.05	2.66	0.56	1.14	2.45	3.67	3.15	3.66	1.79	1.96	2.62
	5	х	0.63	2.11	х	0	1.1	Х	0.74	2.05	х	0	1.97
	6	0.86	1.61	2.68	0.46	1.29	2.78	1.37	1.66	3.18	0.74	1.3	2.6
et 1	7	1.9	1.02	1.57	1.61	1.17	1.07	0.67	0	1.33	0.71	0	0.89
a S	8	0.73	1.57	2.49	1.33	0.75	1.33	1.63	1.52	2.57	1.18	1.78	2.56
)at:			•										•
Π	Mean	1.03	1.12	1.9	0.50	0.48	1.35	1.30	1.06	2.12	0.67	0.77	1.7
	SD	0.67	0.63	0.81	0.85	0.84	0.97	1.14	1.04	1.04	0.72	0.92	0.91
	Max	1.98	2.05	2.68	1.61	1.29	2.78	3.67	3.15	3.66	1.79	1.96	2.62
	Min	0.14	0.39	0.59	-0.65	-0.97	0	0.27	0	0.79	-0.39	-0.64	0.28
				1									
	1	1	Х	Х	0.64	Х	Х	0.75	0.42	0.87	0.64	0.76	0.77
	2	0.59	0	1.05	0	0	0.6	0.59	0.58	1.67	-0.45	-0.76	1.67
	3	0.48	0.63	0.57	-0.62	-0.67	-0.06	0.62	0.57	0.73	-0.47	0	1
	4	1.82	2.25	2.97	0.74	1.63	2.3	3.29	2.58	3.1	1.03	1.46	2.89
	5	х	0.72	1.72	х	0	1.26	х	0.78	2.03	Х	0.61	1.91
	6	0.68	1.64	2.87	0.51	1.38	2.8	0.95	1.65	3.01	0.63	1.14	2.43
et 2	7	1.79	1.24	1.76	1.37	0.92	1.49	0.8	0.23	1.07	0.92	-0.47	0.77
aS	8	1.09	1.67	2.11	1.02	0.98	1.63	1.93	1.62	2.53	1.55	1.81	2.66
)at:													
Ι	Mean	1.06	1.16	1.86	0.52	0.61	1.43	1.28	1.05	1.88	0.55	0.57	1.76
	SD	0.55	0.76	0.88	0.66	0.84	0.97	1.00	0.81	0.95	0.76	0.92	0.85
	Max	1.82	2.25	2.97	1.37	1.63	2.8	3.29	2.58	3.1	1.55	1.81	2.89
	Min	0.48	0	0.57	-0.62	-0.67	-0.06	0.59	0.23	0.73	-0.47	-0.76	0.77

of first molar (MB-M1) and distobuccal root of first molar (DB-M1) positions.

Craniofacial Expansion Assessment

Table 30: Zygomatic and infrazygomatic expansion (mm) measured from three-dimensional superimposition color maps in Figure 12.

	Right Side		Left Side		
	Infrazygomatic	Zygomatic	Infrazygomatic	Zygomatic	
1	0.57	0.44	1.78	0.96	
2	1.15	0.55	1.03	0.53	
3	1.26	0.91	1.25	0.91	
4	1.47	1.05	1.24	0.85	
5	1.07	1.02	1.50	1.20	
6	0.61	0.59	1.07	0.68	
7	1.60	0.75	1.75	1.56	
8	0.77	0.51	0.95	0.45	
		·			
Mean	1.06	0.73	1.32	0.89	
SD	0.38	0.24	0.32	0.36	
Max	1.60	1.05	1.78	1.56	
Min	0.57	0.44	0.95	0.45	

Statistical Analysis

Effect Tests

Source	Nparm	DF	Sum of Squares	F Ratio	Prob > F	
subj	7	7	13.529943	4.7201	0.0026*	
Label	3	3	1.424465	1.1595	0.3486	

Label

Leverage Plot

Least Squares Means Table

Mean[i]-Mean[j]	Column 1	Column 2	Column 3	Column 4
Std Err Dif				
Lower CL Dif				
Upper CL Dif				



Level	Least Sq Mean	Std Error	Mean
Column 1	3.8218750	0.22624528	3.82188
Column 2	3.7350000	0.22624528	3.73500
Column 3	3.5900000	0.22624528	3.59000
Column 4	3.2675000	0.22624528	3.26750

LSMeans Differences Tukey HSD

 $\alpha = 0.050$ Q= 2.78733

LSMean[i] By LSMean[j]

Column 1	0	0.08688	0.23188	0.55438
	0	0.31996	0.31996	0.31996
	0	-0.805	-0.66	-0.3375
	0	0.97871	1.12371	1.44621
Column 2	-0.0869	0	0.145	0.4675
	0.31996	0	0.31996	0.31996
	-0.9787	0	-0.7468	-0.4243
	0.80496	0	1.03683	1.35933
Column 3	-0.2319	-0.145	0	0.3225
	0.31996	0.31996	0	0.31996
	-1.1237	-1.0368	0	-0.5693
	0.65996	0.74683	0	1.21433
Column 4	-0.5544	-0.4675	-0.3225	0
	0.31996	0.31996	0.31996	0
	-1.4462	-1.3593	-1.2143	0
	0.33746	0.42433	0.56933	0

Table 31. Results from Tukey's HSD (honest significance difference) test for midplatal sutural separation in axial view at C, P1, P2, and M1 (α =0.050, Q=2.78733).

Level				Least Sq Mean
Column	1 A			3.8218750
Column	2 A			3.7350000
Column	3 A			3.5900000
Column	4 A			3.2675000

Levels not connected by same letter are significantly different. Matched Pairs Difference: C: P1 2-T2: P1 3







Difference: C: DB-M1-C: DB-M1 2



Difference: T2: C 2-T2: C 3



Difference: T2: P1 4-T2: P1 9



Difference: T2: P2 2-T2: P2 3



7

Difference: T2: M1 2-T2: M1 3



Difference: C: P1 4-C: P1 5



Difference: C: M1 2-C: M1 3



Difference: C: P1 6-C: P1 7


Matched Pairs









Matched Pairs

Difference: Infrazygomatic L-Infrazygomatic R



8

Mean Difference	0.24733	Prob > t	0.1193
Std Error	0.14182	Prob > t	0.0597
Upper 95%	0.57438	Prob < t	0.9403
Lower 95%	-0.0797		
Ν	9		
Correlation	0.3267		

Difference: Zygomatic L-Zygomatic R



Ν	9
Correlation	0.43205

1.5 Zygomatic L Difference: Zygomatic L-Infrazygomatic L 1.0 0.5 0.0 -0.5 -1.0 Infrazygomatic L -1.5 0.8 0.4 0.6 1.0 1.2 1.4 1.6 1.8 Mean: (Zygomatic L+Infrazygomatic L)/2

Difference: Zygomatic L-Infrazygomatic L

Zygomatic L	0.92544	t-Ratio	-7.45729
Infrazygomatic L	1.36456	DF	8
Mean Difference	-0.4391	Prob > t	<.0001*
Std Error	0.05888	Prob > t	1.0000
Upper 95%	-0.3033	Prob < t	<.0001*
Lower 95%	-0.5749		
Ν	9		
Correlation	0.87026		

S
S

	Variable 1	Variable 2
Mean	2.52	2.894375
Variance	0.243771	0.303467
Observations	8	8
Pearson Correlation	0.598756	
Hypothesized Mean Difference	0	
df	7	
t Stat	-2.24975	
P(T<=t) one-tail	0.02961	
t Critical one-tail	1.894579	
P(T<=t) two-tail	0.05922	
t Critical two-tail	2.364624	

34.83429	35.04429
4.529762	4.741395
7	7
0.989123	
0	
6	
-1.72925	
0.067247	
1.94318	
0.134494	
2.446912	
	34.83429 4.529762 7 0.989123 0 6 -1.72925 0.067247 1.94318 0.134494 2.446912

	Variable 1	Variable 2
Mean	1.060375	1.319125
Variance	0.146793	0.103558
Observations	8	8
Pearson Correlation	0.181713	
Hypothesized Mean Difference	0	
df	7	
t Stat	-1.61426	
P(T<=t) one-tail	0.075252	
t Critical one-tail	1.894579	
P(T<=t) two-tail	0.150505	

Variable 2

	Variable 1
Mean	0.7

t-Test: Paired Two Sample for Means

Mean	0.72675	0.890625
Variance	0.057447	0.132533
Observations	8	8
Pearson Correlation	0.435621	
Hypothesized Mean Difference	0	
df	7	
t Stat	-1.37304	
P(T<=t) one-tail	0.106052	
t Critical one-tail	1.894579	
P(T<=t) two-tail	0.212105	
t Critical two-tail	2.364624	

	Variable 1	Variable 2
Mean	31.67286	31.64286
Variance	5.635657	5.594924
Observations	7	7
Pearson Correlation	0.981017	
Hypothesized Mean		
Difference	0	
df	6	
t Stat	0.171873	

0.434594
1.94318
0.869188
2.446912

	Variable 1	Variable 2
Mean	48.83429	48.92429
Variance	8.371195	7.164395
Observations	7	7
Pearson Correlation	0.989438	
Hypothesized Mean Difference	0	
df	6	
t Stat	-0.51896	
P(T<=t) one-tail	0.311184	
t Critical one-tail	1.94318	
P(T<=t) two-tail	0.622369	
t Critical two-tail	2.446912	

	Variable 1	Variable 2
Mean	42.59143	42.64857
Variance	8.180848	7.879281
Observations	7	7
Pearson Correlation	0.9898	

0	
6	
-0.37038	
0.361913	
1.94318	
0.723826	
2.446912	
	0 6 -0.37038 0.361913 1.94318 0.723826 2.446912

	Variable 1	Variable 2
Mean	2.8175	2.97125
Variance	0.28425	0.367298
Observations	8	8
Pearson Correlation	0.870152	
Hypothesized Mean Difference	0	
df	7	
t Stat	-1.45584	
P(T<=t) one-tail	0.094387	
t Critical one-tail	1.894579	
P(T<=t) two-tail	0.188775	
t Critical two-tail	2.364624	

t-Test: Paired Two Sample for Means

Variable Variable

	1	2
Mean	2.4825	2.6075
Variance	0.54445	0.40185
Observations	8	8
Pearson Correlation	0.829707	
Hypothesized Mean Difference	0	
df	7	
t Stat	-0.8572	
P(T<=t) one-tail	0.209854	
t Critical one-tail	1.894579	
P(T<=t) two-tail	0.419708	
t Critical two-tail	2.364624	